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Experience
Herman Miller

Last year, thousands
did. In our National

Design Centers in Los
Angeles, Chicago, New
York, and Washington
D.C. Through our
products in countless
working, learning, and
healing environments.
Whenever they met
one of our dealers or

salespeople. Through
our knowledge
resources at www.
hermanmiller.com.
Most of all, perhaps,
people experience
Herman Miller in West
Michigan, where we
hosted hundreds of

visiting organizations
in 2003-4.

The Herman Miller
experience in West
Michigan will open
your eyes to the
possibilities of place.
It connects you to

knowledge about
work and the future
of work. It shows you
what a great place to
work can be. It helps
you find out, through
careful questions and
sincere listening, where
your environment

stands and how it
might be better. By
experiencing Herman
Miller, you connect to
people, have fun, and
will certainly pick up
a good idea or two.

" Welcome
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Jim’s work pushes us
into the future.
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In this year’s annual
report are pictures
of people and
places that make up
the Herman Miller

experience in West
Michigan. The words
on these stamps give
you an idea of the
range of topics and
discoveries open to
you through Herman
Miller. Pick four, stick
them on the enclosed

card, and we will
begin your Herman
Miller experience by
mail. We hope that’s
only the beginning.
And here’s the best
part: who knows
where it could lead?

Marigold

Hospitality and
comfort in person

Experiencing Herman
Miller goes beyond
products and buildings

to people and
human connections.
Marigold Lodge and
Learning Center have
come to mean for

us both a love of
learning and a
desire to exemplify
true hospitality.

The setting on

Lake Macatawa,
the attention and
competence of the
staff, the details
and character of
the rooms—we dare
you to find a more
hospitable place.

CuStomer Care

Environment
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Marc explains

why Customer Care
at Herman Miller

is something special.
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Design

At Herman Miller,
it frequently produces
innovation

“Design is a response
to social change.”
George Nelson’s
dictum has led to
some remarkable
innovations through
research, design,
and development

at Herman Miller:

the first panel
system, the first
ergonomic chair,
the Aeron chair,
the first 120-degree
work system, the
first DfE product.
Seeing our R&D
process may lead

you to take a new
look at your own
world-and consider
your own innovations
to improve it.

Kaleidoscope

A Herman Miller look
at the future through
scenario planning

How will technology
change in the coming
years and what effect
will it have on work
and workplaces? How

will new social norms
affect employment
and the social
atmosphere in offices?
Will global movements
of labor and capital
affect your business?
Will the “creative
class” of workers

dominate the world
of intellectual capital
and innovation? No
answers are certain.
But the conversation
will leave you with
plenty to think about.

i

= | o
. Services

Project Room
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Ming-Li lives
on the leading edge
of networked innovation.
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Jennifer welcomes
you to the Front Door
in West Michigan.

Maryln will take you
on a tour of possible
futures.

Charley makes sure .
. < our designs solve . .
< real problems.
. . . .
+ Jeff makes sure our ¢ Ericisintroducing Abak ¢ . . .
- products live up . tothe U.S. market. : : : .
- to our reputation . . . . .
. for performance. . . . . .
. . . . . .
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Bill works daily with the Larry adds virtual
complexities of global verve to our exciting
business. new ideas.
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HMPS

Designing quality
and improvement
from the inside out

The Herman Miller
Production System
(modeled after the
Toyota Production
System) has become
our way of constantly
doing things better.
We use HMPS to
baseline the way we

do things and improve
all aspects of our
business from safety
to quality, inventory
turns, throughput,
labor needed, and
floor space required.
We improve ourselves
not by dictating, but by

involving employees in
the process—a lesson
we have learned

from our heritage

of participation.

And we want you to
understand how we
g0 about keeping

our promises.

Leadership
Ajob not a title

The leaders at Herman
Miller come in all
shapes and sizes.

They have titles like
CEO and Product
Manager. The leaders
at Herman Miller put
themselves on the
line for employees
and customers and
investors. They lead
through service. They

are committed to
innovation. They
understand that
solving your problem
is more important
than making a sale.
Come meet them!
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of continuous improve-
ment into reality.
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Ken keeps our promises.

Mike directs our
business with the
federal government.

©00cc00c0c0cc00c0cccodeccccccccccccccccccolccccccccccccccccccce

ee% cecccccccccccee
eeweccccccccccccoe

o
.
.
.
.
.
.

o
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

<
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .
. .

eecccccccccsccccccse
00 0000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000

ecccoce

e0ccccc0cccccccccce eecc0cccccccccccce eeccccccccccccccccce

R s R R R R XY

e0cecccec®eccscccccccccscsccee
eecccccweccccsccccsccscccoee

eeccccccccce
eeccccccccscccsccscccsccce

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
0

eecccccccccce

.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.

Barb cares for our many
relationships with
industrial designers.
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Andy has the best seats
in the house.
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Brian, our new CEOQ, is
determined to develop
people who inspire
our customers.

.
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. Willie is our recycling Alex powers your
guru. work environment.
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Facilities

Concrete examples
of what we believe

Though Herman
Miller’s facilities
have won many
awards over the
years, they really
express in a way
you’ll never forget
the powerful appeal
of a well-designed

work environment.
They comfort the
people who work in
them and inspire
the people who visit.
Good architecture, like
good office furniture,
puts people first.

New Office
Landscape

Planning offices
for innovation

In a business world
where competitive

pressures run high
and the demand for
innovative products
and services increases
day by day, what kind
of workplace will
attract and keep the
brightest and most
creative employees?

How can the work-
place raise the
creative quotient of
every person working
there and stimulate
and capture the
creative sparks when
people work together?
We’d like to talk to

you about your own
brand of the many
new office landscapes
that lie ahead.

Education
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Ray introduces you
to our National Design
Centers.

Len shows you what’s
behind our great places
to work.
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Products

The result of research,
design, engineering,
and dedication

Herman Miller
invented the first
panel system furniture
in 1968. We introduced
our industry to
ergonomics in general
and to ergonomic
seating in particular
in 1976. We have

changed the model for
systems furniture
twice—once in 1985
with Ethospace, and
again in 2000 with
Resolve. What really
excites us about our
products is what’s
coming next.

World of Work

A holistic view
of organizations,
individuals, and work

Take a systemic

look with us at the
world of work from
macroeconomic
influences to factors
in your industry.
Then focus your
curiosity on what’s
to come—networked
innovation, emergent

organizations,
demographic changes—
the trends that lie
behind future realities.
We look together
through a discovery
process at how to
combine workforce,
work tools, and

workplace in
practical solutions.

Product

Services
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- Scott diagnoses the
important issues that
come before a solution.

eecccccccccscccccccssccce
eeccccccccscccccccsccssccse

o
.
.
.
.
.
.
%
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
.
o

Marg and Herman Miller - John helps you store all
classics exemplify the 2 those important papers
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Tracy knows what makes Ginny reveals what’s
great places work. - behind workplace
realities.
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Curt thinks our strong
partnerships with
dealers set us apart.
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Benjamin applies our Judy fits you for the :
leading technology to study of ergonomics.
your great place to work. : :

. Mark grapples with
< the complexities of

. customer relationships
- around the world.
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Environment

Our products
and our business
practices respect it

Words can go only
so far in convincing
you that we’re serious
about aligning

our business with
progressive actions
toward sustainability.
Avisit to West
Michigan almost

always includes time
to tour our Gold LEED-
rated MarketPlace
building and to meet
some of the people
who make environ-
mental programs real,
from the engineers
who design for the

environment to the
300 employees

who take part in our
Environmental Quality
Action Team programs.

Welcome

To bright people,

good ideas, -
real hospitality Peo P le Services

i
We believe that by b
experiencing Herman
Miller you will learn

J i
new ways to make & ‘ [\
great places to work, l
new dimensions
of research and
design, new depths
of understanding
about the world of
work, learning, and
healing environments.

We also think you’ll
have fun! Good humor

and good ideas are
a combination hard
to beat.

Leadership
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Mike turns the idea of
continuous improvement
into a reality.

A ST TTT I T

Paul presents our
innovative and progres-
sive environmental
programs.
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Kris understands that
strong relationships
are at the heart

of our business.
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Dwayne helps architects
and designers do their
best.

Mark emcees the
Herman Miller
customer experience
in West Michigan.
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Drew understands our
process of continuous
improvement.

Gary pursues exciting
new ideas at the Herman
Miller Creative Office.
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Finally

We sincerely hope
we have piqued your
interest. In the end,

the Herman Miller
experience is really
about solutions—

by which we mean
the specific
combination of
services, knowledge,
products, and
execution that will

make a great place
to work for you.
Whether you work

in a school, a clinical
lab, or an office, our
business is focused
on understanding
and providing the
environments that

will help you be

better at what you do.

Experience Herman
Miller and discover
how much we
mean that.

Leader;hip

Product
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< John understands the
needs of our interna-
tional customers and
their global businesses.
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Mark will give you
options—to customize
our products.
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Dave at Geiger works in
the world of high quality
architectural furniture
and wood casegoods.

Matt believes there’s
more to success than
hardware.
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Alma will get you
a room of your own.

Bob and his limo
haven’t missed a
flight yet.
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Jim can explain the
latest developments in
workplace technology.

Diane welcomes you
to our Chicago National
Design Center.
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Mike has perfected
he art of listening—and
hen exploring solutions.
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Dear Shareholder

A new beginning. The unmistakable signs of a fresh start crept in quietly midway through our fiscal year and steadily
made their presence felt. During the first half of the year, our sales remained in the doldrums, but then things began to
change—a level of activity that fueled two straight quarters of year-over-year growth in sales. By the way, after three years
of seeing our industry and business shrink, it felt very good to finally observe even a little uptick in business.

For the year, our net sales totaled $1.34 billion, up 0.1 percent from the previous year. New orders reached $1.35
billion for the year, up 2.7 percent from fiscal 2003. Our year-end backlog was up 15.1 percent over the prior year.

The remarkable people of Herman Miller (many of whom you will meet on the pages of this annual report) worked
tirelessly to improve operating performance in the face of virtually flat sales. Gross margins were a big challenge. The
discounting on major projects was fierce, and raw material prices (especially steel) continued to rise during the year.
We ended with margins at 31.1 percent, slightly below the prior year’s 31.7 percent. But real gains were made in
reducing our operating expenses, which decreased more than 5 percent to $354.4 million in fiscal 2004, from
$375.3 million in fiscal 2003. That helped us generate $42.3 million in net earnings, compared to $23.3 million

in fiscal 2003—a significant 81.5 percent increase.

We competed hard for every opportunity—and we continued to do things in the Herman Miller way.

With the successful introduction of our innovative Mirra task chair during this past fiscal year, we extended our lead

in the seating category. And with the addition of Abak to our North American offering, we now have another formidable,
intelligent, and beautiful desking system to complement Resolve, Ethospace, Action Office, Passage, Q, and Prospects.
This new product line won one of our three Gold Awards at the 2004 Best of NeoCon competition this past June.

We continue to demonstrate leadership in environmental stewardship, introducing a new generation of earth-friendly
fabrics and materials. One of them, Kira, a proprietary panel system fabric made from 100 percent renewable,
bio-based fiber derived from the plant sugars of corn, also won a Gold Award at this year’s Best of NeoCon competition.

It’s remarkable, because unlike other man-made fabrics, it can be completely composted at the end of its useful life.
That means Kira is beautiful at every stage—including the time when it must exit the stage.

We see mounting evidence that our insistence on innovation will continue to make Herman Miller a distinctive and
highly regarded company. Fortune magazine ranked us as the “Most Admired” firm in our industry this past year for the
16th time in 18 years—and gave us the fourth highest innovation score among all companies surveyed.

The measure of our new beginning can be read in economic terms as well as in awards, lofty rankings, and good
business practices. But there is still an important question to consider: Does the future look even brighter?

We know the market that we serve—and we know there are new markets that we can serve. We continue to step up our
investments in research and development, including an impressive array of new products that should be launched

over the next 12 to 24 months. We are putting renewed emphasis and significant resources into our efforts to win in the
growing healthcare and education markets. And we have the applied knowledge and services that enable customers

to envision their own great places to work, or to learn, or to heal.

This fall, we will begin beta testing of the first of many anticipated commercial inventions to percolate out of our
Herman Miller Creative Office, with other innovations to follow as we seek to serve an expanded market opportunity.
We are determined to redefine our industry—and grow our business.

Our market reality is clear: Our competitors are aiming at many of the same targets, but we believe that we will win with
the weapon of innovation—a key differentiator for us.

We also believe that our people are unique and create advantage. Look at the faces on the cover and throughout this

annual report, and read the capsule descriptions of what these extraordinary people do for our customers. Of course,
there is no substitute for the actual experience of meeting our people face-to-face, and learning about Herman Miller
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through their words and actions. When prospective customers come to visit us at our West Michigan headquarters
and facilities, they not only gain an understanding of what makes a great place to work, or learn, or heal—they get
a glimpse of what makes Herman Miller a very special place. And they usually become our customers.

The people of Herman Miller have a renewed energy, the pipeline is bursting with exciting new products, and we
believe that we have a business model and strategy well suited to win in the marketplace and to deliver superior value
to our customers and to you, our shareholders. Yes, the future looks much brighter!

Finally, we want to acknowledge the great work of the leadership team, who guided us through a difficult period with
decisive action and unwavering allegiance to our corporate values. The leadership team is a gifted group of women and
men who will encourage and cultivate the momentum at every turn in the days ahead. We consider it an honor to serve
with each of them and our employee-owners—and in turn to serve our shareholders, our dealers, and our customers.

Sincerely
Michael A. Volkema Brian C. Walker M\
Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer

2004 Report to Shareholders  Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries



Share Price, Earnings, and Dividends Summary

Herman Miller, Inc., common stock is quoted in the NASDAQ-National Market System (NASDAQ-NMS Symbol: MLHR).
As of July 30, 2004, there were approximately 18,000 shareholders of record of the company’s common stock.

Market Price ~ MarketPrice  Market Price Earnings Dividends
High Low Close Per  Declared Per
Per Share and Unaudited (at close) (at close) Share-Diluted(!) Share
Year Ended May 29, 2004
First quarter $23.42 $ 19.38 $23.38 $ .08  $.03625
Second quarter 26.05 22.64 26.05 12 .03625
Third quarter 28.40 23.41 28.04 11 .03625
Fourth quarter 29.73 23.22 24.08 .27 .07250
Year $29.73 $ 19.38 $ 24.08 $ .58 §$.18125
Year Ended May 31, 2003
First quarter $23.77 $ 15.49 $ 15.49 $ .13 $.03625
Second quarter 19.94 14.58 19.94 .16 .03625
Third quarter 19.95 15.37 15.63 .04 .03625
Fourth quarter 19.34 15.46 19.34 (.02) .03625
Year $23.77 $ 14.58 $19.34 $ .31 $.14500

(1) For fiscal quarters ending with a reported loss, shares resulting from stock option plans would be anti-dilutive to earnings per share and have not been
included in diluted earnings per share.

Dividends were declared and paid quarterly during fiscal 2004 and 2003 as approved by the Board of Directors.

While it is anticipated that the company will continue to pay quarterly cash dividends, the amount and timing of such
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board depending on the company’s future results of operations, financial
condition, capital requirements, and other relevant factors.

Dear Shareholder ~ Share Price, Earnings, and Dividends Summary
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Review of Operations

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002 2001
Operating Results

Net Sales(®) $1,338.3 $1,336.5 $1,468.7 $2,236.2
Gross Margin(®) 415.6 423.6 440.3 755.7
Selling, General, and Administrative(3) 304.1 319.8 399.7 475.4
Design and Research Expense 40.0 39.1 38.9 44.3
Operating Earnings 61.2 48.3 (79.9) 236.0
Earnings Before Income Taxes 51.6 35.8 (91.0) 225.1
Net Earnings 42.3 23.3 (56.0) 140.6
Cash Flow from Operating Activities 82.7 144.7 54.6 211.8
Depreciation and Amortization 59.3 69.4 112.9 92.6
Capital Expenditures 26.7 29.0 52.4 105.0
Common Stock Repurchased

plus Cash Dividends Paid $ 726 $ 727 $ 303 $ 105.3
Key Ratios

Sales Growth (Decline)(d 3) 0.1 (9.0) (34.3) 11.2
Gross Margin(1 3) 31.1 31.7 30.0 33.8
Selling, General, and Administrative(l> 3 22.7 23.9 27.3 213
Design and Research Expense(l: 3) 3.0 2.9 2.6 2.0
Operating Earnings(l> 3) 4.6 3.6 (5.4) 10.6
Net Earnings Growth (Decline) 81.5 141.6 (139.8) 0.6
After-Tax Return on Net Sales(: %) 3.2 1.7 (3.8) 6.3
After-Tax Return on Average Assets(©) 5.7 3.0 (6.3) 14.5
After-Tax Return on Average Equity(?) 21.9 10.3 (18.2) 43.5
Share and Per Share Data®

Earnings per Share-Diluted $ .58 $ 31 $ (74) $ 181
Cash Dividends Declared per Share .18 .15 .15 .15
Book Value per Share at Year End 2.71 2.62 3.45 4.63
Market Price per Share at Year End $ 24.08 $ 19.34 $ 23.46 $ 26.90
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding-Diluted 73.1 74.5 75.9 77.6
Financial Condition

Total Assets $ 7147 $ 7573 $ 788.0 $ 996.5
Working Capital® 207.8 189.9 188.7 191.6
Current Ratio 1.8 1.7 1.8 1.5
Interest-Bearing Debt 207.2 223.0 235.1 259.3
Shareholders’ Equity 194.6 191.0 263.0 351.5
Total Capital 401.8 414.0 498.1 610.8

(1) Shown as a percent of net sales.

were restated in 2001 to reflect reclassification of certain expenses.
(5) Calculated as net earnings divided by net sales.

by average equity.

2004 Report to Shareholders

(2) Retroactively adjusted to reflect two-for-one stock splits occurring in 1998 and 1997.
(4) Calculated using current assets less non-interest bearing current liabilities.
(6) Calculated as net earnings divided by average assets.

Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries

(3) Amounts for 1994-2000

(7) Calculated as net earnings divided



2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

$2,010.2 $1,828.4 $1,773.0 $1,543.8 $1,325.0 $1,117.8 $983.7
680.4 641.6 613.0 509.5 418.4 362.0 322.9
404.4 379.3 370.9 335.2 299.5 287.4 230.9
41.3 38.0 33.8 29.1 27.5 33.7 30.2
234.7 224.3 208.3 130.7 74.9 9.1 61.8
221.8 229.9 209.5 125.9 70.1 4.0 63.5
139.7 141.8 128.3 744 45.9 4.3 40.4
202.1 205.6 268.7 218.2 124.5 29.9 69.8
77.1 62.1 50.7 48.0 45.0 39.7 33.2
135.7 103.4 73.6 54.5 54.4 63.4 40.3

$ 101.6 $ 179.7 $ 2155 $ 110.4 $ 381 $ 136 $ 38.5
9.9 3.1 14.8 16.5 18.5 13.6 11.4
33.8 35.1 34.6 33.0 31.6 32.4 32.8
20.1 20.7 20.9 21.7 22.6 25.7 23.5
2.1 2.1 1.9 1.9 2.1 3.0 3.1
11.7 12.3 11.7 8.5 5.7 0.8 6.3
(1.5) 10.5 72.4 62.1 967.4 (89.4) 82.8
6.9 7.8 7.2 4.8 3.5 0.4 4.1
16.5 18.5 16.7 10.3 6.8 0.7 7.9
55.5 64.4 49.5 25.0 15.4 1.5 13.9

$ 1.74 $ 1.67 $ 1.39 $ 77 $ .46 $ .04 $ .40
.15 .15 .15 13 13 13 13
3.76 2.63 2.66 3.12 3.12 2.89 3.01

$ 29.75 $ 20.19 $ 27.69 $ 17.88 $ 7.72 $  5.42 $ 6.22
80.5 84.8 92.0 96.1 100.5 99.2 101.0

$ 941.2 $ 751.5 $ 784.3 $ 755.6 $ 694.9 $659.0 $533.7
99.1 55.5 77.2 135.7 151.8 133.7 106.6

.9 1.0 1.1 1.4 1.6 1.2 1.3
225.6 147.6 130.7 127.4 131.7 144.2 70.0
294.5 209.1 231.0 287.1 308.1 286.9 296.3
520.1 356.7 361.7 414.5 439.8 4311 366.3
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

You should read the issues discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis in conjunction with the
company’s consolidated financial statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in
the company’s Form 10-K.

Executive Business Overview

The principal focus of our business is to provide workplace solutions to our customers worldwide through the research,
design, manufacture, and sale of office furniture products. These products include office furniture systems, seating,
storage solutions, freestanding furniture, and casegoods. We also offer our end-user customers related services such as
furniture asset management and office layout design. Our products and services are offered to most of our customers
under standard trade credit terms of between 30 and 45 days and are sold through the following distribution channels.

* Independent Contract Furniture Dealers and Licensees
Most of our product sales are made to a network of independently owned and operated contract furniture dealerships
doing business in more than 40 countries. These dealers purchase our products and distribute them to end
customers. We recognize revenue on product sales through this channel once our products are shipped and title passes
to the dealer. Many of these dealers also offer furniture-related services including product installation.

* Owned Contract Furniture Dealers
We own and operate 11 contract furniture dealerships. The financial results of these owned dealers are included
in our consolidated financial statements. Product sales to these dealerships are eliminated as inter-company
transactions from our consolidated financial results. Product and service revenue is recognized only when
the dealership completes delivery of product and related services to the end customer.

* Direct Customer Sales
We sometimes sell products and services directly to end customers without an intermediary. In most of these
instances, we contract separately with a dealership or third-party installation company to provide sales-related
services. We recognize revenue on these sales once products are shipped and installation is substantially complete.

* Independent Retailers
Some products are sold to end customers through independently owned retail operations. Revenue is recognized
on these sales once products are shipped and title passes to the independent retailer.

We consider our owned and independent dealer network one of the most important competitive factors vital to the
long-term success of our business. General economic and industry conditions in recent years have placed significant
financial pressure on several of our dealers. We have provided financial assistance to some dealers either though
direct loans or loan guarantees. We view the primary risks to our business resulting from the dealers’ economic
pressures as the potential disruption of our distribution channels, the resulting adverse impact on our customers,
and the credit risk associated with our dealer financing arrangements. While we cannot avoid these risks with
certainty, we believe that the overall condition of the network is stable and our reserves are adequate to cover

the credit risk.

We are committed to developing aesthetically and functionally innovative new products and have a history of doing
s0. We believe our skills and experience in matching problem-solving furniture design with the workplace needs

of our customers provide us with a competitive advantage in the marketplace. An important component of our business
strategy is to actively pursue a program of new product research, design, and development. We accomplish this
through the use of an internal research and design staff as well as external design resources that are generally
compensated on a royalty basis.

We manufacture our products using a system of lean manufacturing techniques collectively referred to as the Herman
Miller Production System (HMPS). One key element of our manufacturing strategy is to limit fixed production costs

by sourcing component parts from strategic suppliers. This strategy has allowed us to increase the variable nature of our
cost structure while at the same time retaining proprietary control over those production processes that we believe
provide us a competitive advantage. As a result of this strategy, our manufacturing operations are largely assembly-
based. Additionally, during fiscal years 2002 and 2003, we actively pursued a program of supplier rationalization and
consolidation in an effort to reduce procurement costs and improve quality levels. Generally this effort, in connection
with HMPS, has resulted in improved efficiency, costs, and reliability. Despite these benefits, the strategy does
increase the risks associated with supplier transitions and dependence upon fewer suppliers. We continue to seek

2004 Report to Shareholders  Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries



financially strong suppliers interested in long-term business relationships to minimize the risk of interruption
to our business.

We strive to maintain efficiencies and cost savings by minimizing the amount of inventory on-hand under HMPS.
Accordingly, production is order-driven with raw materials purchased as needed to meet demand. The standard lead-
time for the majority of our products is 10 to 20 days. As a result, the rate of our inventory turns is high.

These combined factors could cause our inventory levels to appear relatively low in relation to sales volume.

Our primary domestic manufacturing operations are located in Michigan and Georgia. We also have a significant
manufacturing presence in the United Kingdom, which represents our largest marketplace outside the United States.

In addition to sales in the United Kingdom, our products are sold internationally through wholly-owned subsidiaries

or branches in Canada, France, Germany, ltaly, Japan, Mexico, and the Netherlands. Our products are offered elsewhere
in the world primarily through independent dealerships and licensees.

We believe that respecting the environment in the way we do business is simply the right thing to do, and we are
committed to developing sustainable business practices. A goal of sustainability demands that we pay attention to the
entire life cycle of our products. We develop strategies that enable us to move toward sustainability while enhancing
the value offered to our customers. We measure and monitor progress toward our environmental goals as a key metric
of our business success.

While the office furniture industry is subject to a multitude of macro-economic influences, we generally consider
the following to be the leading economic indicators of our industry’s performance:

* Corporate Profitability

* White-Collar Employment

* New Office Construction Starts
* Office Space Vacancy Rates

The Business and Institutional Furniture Manufacturers Association (BIFMA) is the trade association for the U.S. domestic
office furniture industry. We closely monitor the trade statistics reported by BIFMA and consider them among the key
indicators of industry-wide sales and order performance. We also analyze BIFMA statistical information over several
quarters as a benchmark comparison against the performance of our domestic business. Finally, BIFMA regularly provides
its members with industry forecast information, which we use internally as one of many considerations in our short

and long-range planning process.

Discussion of Business Conditions

The completion of our 2004 fiscal year marks the first time in three years that we have been able to report year-over-
year growth in annual sales and net earnings. It represents for us, symbolically if not statistically, the official end

of an economic recession that led to the elimination of thousands of jobs across our industry. This was a difficult time
in our history; however, we are pleased with the changes we made to our business model as a result of the challenge.
The net effect of these changes is that we now operate as a leaner and more financially agile enterprise than we did

at the beginning of the downturn. Our financial results, particularly in the second half of this year, give us confidence
that overall business conditions are gaining momentum—and that we have the ability to grow profitably as a result.

Throughout fiscal 2004, we saw improvement in a majority of the major economic indicators for our industry. Corporate
profits, which began to show sequential-quarter growth last year, continued that trend during the current fiscal year.?)
The employment situation has also improved. Unemployment rates across most statistical categories, including
general sales and office occupations, have fallen from the previous year.?) Finally, while new office construction rates
have yet to increase, the level of office space vacancies appears to have stabilized.® ¥

This economic data is encouraging for the industry as a whole. However, we are even more energized by what the
performance of our business suggests about the recovery outlook. The fourth quarter ended May 29, 2004 represented
only the second time in three years that we reported year-over-year growth in net sales. It was also the third
consecutive period of year-over-year growth in quarterly order levels. In total, our fourth quarter order entry rate was
the highest level experienced in the past 11 quarters. Overall business activity, as measured by client visits to our

(1) U.S. Dept. of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis; National Income and Product Accounts (NIPA) Tables; June 28, 2004; Table 1.14  (2) U.S. Dept.
of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; May 2004 employment statistics; Table A-10.  (3) U.S. Dept. of Commerce, U.S. Census Bureau; seasonally adjusted
construction statistics as of April 2004.  (4) Grubb & Ellis white paper research, “Bubble Re(w)rapped, Retesting the Theory of Rational Exuberance

in the Office Market”; March 2004.
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West Michigan headquarters, increased by more than 60 percent between the third and fourth quarters of 2004.
Finally, showroom attendance at the June 2004 NeoCon® trade show in Chicago was up from the prior year.

We believe the changes made to our business model in recent years, the overall macro-economic environment, and
our own sales and earnings performance during fiscal 2004 suggest a positive outlook. We are also confident that

we have the resources available to fund our future capital needs. During 2004, we completed an in-depth review

of our capital structure. As a result of this work, we announced a 100 percent increase in our quarterly cash dividend.
We also received additional authorization from our Board of Directors to continue our share repurchase program.

Our markets remain intensely competitive. We have continued our product differentiation strategy to limit, to the
extent possible, the impact of negative pricing pressure. Despite these efforts, price competition remains a business
reality. In fiscal 2004 it reduced both net sales and gross margin in relation to the prior year.

Consistent with this differentiation strategy, we have continued to invest heavily in new product development.
Our fiscal 2004 spending in the area of design and research, including royalty payments, totaled $40 million.
This represents an increase both in terms of dollars and percent-of-sales from fiscal 2003 and 2002 levels.

Two innovations that gained significant attention during the year were the Mirra™ chair and the Abak desk system.

In the first quarter, we began taking orders for Mirra, the newest addition to our seating portfolio. Market acceptance
of this award-winning product has been much better than we expected, and we believe our recently announced
upholstered version will further enhance its popularity. The second innovation was unveiled at the June 2004 NeoCon
trade show with the introduction of Abak, a freestanding desking product. This newly redesigned product, which has
been successful in recent years in Europe and Asia, will be made available to our North American customers. The
introduction captured significant attention and earned Abak a Gold award in the Best of NeoCon 2004 competition.

Rising material costs, particularly for raw steel, continue to be an area of concern. Increasing steel costs began to affect
our business in earnest during the second half of the year. Prior to this, we were partially insulated from rising market
prices by favorable pricing contracts and additional safety-stock inventory built in connection with our facility
consolidation efforts. These contracts are now expired and the inventory has been used. As a result, we expect the
impact of steel prices to be more significant in the near term. In fact, we estimate the negative impact of rising steel
costs to be between $4 million and $4.5 million per quarter during the upcoming fiscal year.

In response to these higher production costs, most competitors announced some form of price increase during
fiscal 2004. We announced a general price increase during the fourth quarter. This change, which varies by
product line but averages approximately 4 percent of list price, was effective August 2, 2004. Due to the ongoing
business reality of price competition, however, this increase alone may not fully offset the negative impact

of rising material costs in the upcoming year due to increased discounting. That said, we believe that we can cover
a large portion of the increased costs through our ongoing HMPS initiatives.

On June 23, 2004, we announced that Brian Walker, then our President and Chief Operating Officer, would succeed
Mike Volkema as Chief Executive Officer, effective July 26, 2004. Mike continues in his role as Board Chairman and

in addition is devoting time to the Herman Miller Creative Office, assisting with commercialization of new innovations
and related business development. Having served in a number of senior executive positions during his 16 years

with the company, Brian brings to the CEQ’s role an in-depth knowledge of our industry and a high-energy leadership
style well suited to a new era. This evolution of roles maintains the continuity of a strong leadership team,

enables greater focus in their respective responsibilities, and reflects a growing trend in corporate governance practice
to separate the CEO and Chairman’s responsibilities.

Restructuring Activities

During the fiscal year, we completed substantially all of our outstanding restructuring initiatives. First, in the second
quarter we completed the sale of the Holland, Michigan, Chair Plant. Cash proceeds received from the sale totaled
approximately $6 million. The sale resulted in the recognition of a $0.8 million gain, which was treated as a reduction

to our second quarter restructuring expenses. We also completed the relocation of our Canton, Georgia, manufacturing
operation to our Spring Lake, Michigan, campus. While the Canton manufacturing facility remains listed for sale,

the move itself proceeded as planned and on schedule. The carrying values of the Canton assets were written down

to their estimated fair market values in fiscal 2003 and remain classified under the balance sheet caption, “Net Property
and Equipment.” Finally, we completed the consolidation of our Holland, Michigan, Formcoat operation into existing space
at one of our facilities located in nearby Zeeland, Michigan. The lease on the Formcoat facility has been terminated.
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Pretax restructuring charges totaling $10.3 million, $16.4 million, and $81.6 million were recognized during fiscal
years 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The following is a breakdown by category of these charges.

(in Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Severance and outplacement $ 6.1 $ 4.0 $ 305
Asset impairments (0.8) 11.4 28.0
Pension related 0.2 (0.4) 8.1
Lease and supplier contract terminations 1.1 0.3 6.1
Facility exit costs and other 3.7 1.1 8.9
Total $ 103 $ 16.4 $ 81.6

2004 restructuring expenses relating to the Canton and Formcoat moves totaled approximately $10.6 million. In addition,
we recognized pension-related expenses of approximately $0.7 million associated with the workforce reduction
announced late in fiscal 2003. As previously mentioned, our 2004 restructuring charges were reduced by approximately
$0.8 million with the gain on the sale of the Holland Chair Plant facility. The remaining net credit for the year primarily
related to adjustments to the expected sub-lease timing for facilities previously exited as part of our restructuring plan.

Cash outflows related to our restructuring activities totaled approximately $12.8 million in fiscal 2004. This compares
to outflows of $14.4 million and $31.3 million in fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. We expect future cash
outflows, which will relate primarily to carrying costs and lease obligations on previously exited facilities, to total
approximately $3 million to $3.5 million. This amount, the majority of which will likely be incurred during fiscal 2005,
does not include cash proceeds from the potential future sale of our Canton facility.

Financial Results

The following is a comparison of our annual results of operations and year-over-year percentage changes
for the periods indicated.

% Chg % Chg
(Dollars In Millions) Fiscal 2004 from 2003 Fiscal 2003 from 2002 Fiscal 2002
Net Sales $1,338.3 0.1% $1,336.5 (9.00%  $1,468.7
Cost of Sales 922.7 1.1% 912.9 (11.2)% 1,028.4
Gross Margin 415.6 (1.9)% 423.6 (3.8)% 440.3
Operating Expenses(5) 344.1 (4.1)% 358.9 (18.2)% 438.6
Restructuring Expenses 10.3 (37.2% 16.4 (79.9)% 81.6
Operating Earnings 61.2 26.7% 48.3 160.5% (79.9)
Net Other Expenses 9.6 (23.2)% 12.5 12.6% 11.1
Earnings Before Income Taxes 51.6 44.1% 35.8 139.3% (91.0)
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 8.8 (29.6)% 12.5 135.7% (35.0)
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change 0.5 N/A - - -
Net Earnings $ 423 81.5% $ 233 141.6% $ (56.0)

(5) Does not include expenses recognized in connection with our restructuring activities as these are reported on a separate line for the purposes of this analysis.

Consolidated Net Sales, Orders, and Backlog

Net sales for fiscal 2004 of $1,338.3 million were up slightly from $1,336.5 million reported in fiscal 2003. This
compares to net sales in fiscal 2002 of $1,468.7 million. On a weekly basis, sales for the current fiscal year averaged
$25.7 million. During the first half of fiscal 2004, sales averaged approximately $25.2 million per week. In the latter
half of the year, however, the average increased to approximately $26.3 million. This change contrasts with what

has historically been a second-half seasonal decline in weekly sales rates. We attribute this increase in sales activity
to the fact that our backlog at the beginning of the year included an unusually high component of longer lead-time
orders. Many of these orders shipped in the second half of the fiscal year. In addition, we experienced an increase
in second half sales and order activity due at least in part to the general improvement in overall economic conditions.
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Net trade orders totaled $1,353.4 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $1,317.9 million in 2003 and $1,446.1
million in 2002. On a weekly basis, our fiscal 2004 orders averaged approximately $26 million. The ending
consolidated backlog at May 29, 2004, totaled $209.5 million. This represents an increase of 15.1 percent from
$182.0 million at the end of fiscal 2003. The fiscal 2004 backlog includes approximately $5.5 million related

to the consolidation of dealer financial statements under FIN 46 as discussed in more detail later in this report.

Domestic Operations

Domestic net sales in the current year totaled $1,123.8 million. This represents a 0.9 percent decline from the fiscal
2003 level of $1,134.0 million. This overall year-over-year decline was driven by a 7.2 percent reduction in the first
half of the fiscal year. This reduction was largely offset, however, by year-over-year growth in net sales of 6.3 percent
in the second half of fiscal 2004. In fiscal year 2002, our domestic net sales totaled $1,249.2 million.

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2004, we purchased an additional interest in our Philadelphia-based dealership,
OP Spectrum LLP (Spectrum), for $0.2 million. This purchase increased our ownership stake in the entity to 90 percent.
As a result of the transaction, we began consolidating the dealership’s financial statements in August of this fiscal
year. Prior to the transaction, we accounted for our investment on the equity method, with our ownership proportion
of the resulting gains or losses reported as a component of other income/expense. The consolidation of Spectrum
increased our fiscal 2004 net sales by approximately $12.3 million.

The competitive pricing environment has continued to pose a significant challenge to our efforts to increase the top
line. Fiscal 2004 net sales were reduced from the prior year level by an incremental increase in domestic discounting
of $17.7 million. The comparable impact of higher discounting in fiscal years 2003 and 2002 totaled approximately
$18 million and $21.1 million, respectively.

New orders for our domestic operations totaled $1,135.4 million in fiscal 2004. This compares to orders of $1,117.0
million in the prior year and represents a year-over-year increase of approximately 1.6 percent. Orders in fiscal 2002
totaled $1,221.6 million.

By comparison, BIFMA reported an estimated year-over-year increase in U.S. office furniture shipments
of approximately 0.9 percent for the twelve-month period ended May 2004. For the same period, BIFMA estimates
industry orders grew approximately 3.9 percent.

International Operations and Exports from the United States

Our international results were a highlight for the year. Net sales totaled $214.5 million representing an increase of

5.9 percent from our fiscal 2003 level of $202.5 million. In fiscal year 2002, our international net sales totaled

$219.5 million. We experienced year-over-year sales increases in almost all international regions. The exceptions

to this were our operations in Mexico, which experienced unusually high sales in the prior year attributable to a few large
project wins, and Central Europe, which continues to be depressed by a difficult economy. Our sales growth in the
current year was particularly significant in the Asia-Pacific region, especially Japan and Australia. We also experienced
strong growth in our export business to Spain and the Middle East. In total, sales from our international operations
represented approximately 16.0 percent of our consolidated net sales in fiscal 2004. This compares to 15.2 percent
in fiscal 2003 and 14.9 percent in fiscal 2002.

Our sales performance in international benefited from changes in foreign currency exchange rates during the year.
The relative weakening of the U.S. dollar increased the U.S. dollar value of our international sales by approximately
$15.7 million compared to what this value would have been at prior year exchange rates. It is important to note

that these changes in exchange rates generally have a similar effect on our international cost structure: The U.S. dollar
value of our international expenses increased relative to prior year levels as a result of the weakening U.S. dollar.

For the second consecutive year, our international operations posted positive net earnings. Net earnings for fiscal
2004 were $3.2 million compared with $3.0 million last year and a net loss of $7.5 million in fiscal 2002.

Gross Margin

Our fiscal 2004 gross margin, as a percent of net sales, totaled 31.1 percent. This compares to 31.7 percent in
fiscal 2003 and 30.0 percent in fiscal 2002. The current year decline from the 2003 level is attributable to several
factors. First, as mentioned, increased price discounting from the prior year had a significant negative impact on
our financial results. This alone reduced our gross margin percentage by 1.3 points. Other significant factors include
increasing material costs, labor inefficiencies resulting from the relocation of the Canton operation, and higher
current year incentive bonuses. These negative factors in the current year were offset to some extent by a reduction
in manufacturing overhead expenses.
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In comparison to the prior year, our fiscal 2004 direct material costs increased on both a dollar and percent-of-
sales basis. The biggest reason for this increase as a percentage of sales was price discounting. While unit volume
sales in 2004 were higher than the prior year, the revenue generated from those sales was depressed due to
competitive price discounting. The result of this is higher total expenses for direct materials on nearly the same
sales dollars. This was further compounded during the year as we began to experience significant increases

in the cost of certain direct materials. This was not only the case for raw steel, which in total negatively affected
gross margin by approximately $1.7 million for the year, but also resulted from the impact of higher oil prices

on petroleum-based components such as plastics.

Direct labor expenses in fiscal 2004 increased slightly as a percent of sales when compared to the prior year. As we had
expected, the closure and relocation of our Canton, Georgia operation resulted in short-term labor inefficiencies.

As this transition effort was ongoing for most of the fiscal year, we experienced the increased costs over that same time.
The Canton move is now complete, and beginning in the fourth quarter of this year, we began to realize some of the
expected labor and overhead benefits resulting from this move.

Our manufacturing overhead expenses, both in dollar and percent-of-sales terms, were lower in fiscal 2004 compared
to the prior year. This reduction, which totaled approximately $2.3 million, was achieved despite an increase in

current year incentive bonus expenses of approximately $5.1 million. Pretax variable compensation expense included
in our fiscal 2004 cost of sales totaled $6.1 million compared to $1.0 million in 2003. In fiscal 2002, we recognized
credits of $(0.9) million related to the reduction of variable compensation accruals that had been established

in a prior period.

Operating Expenses and Operating Earnings

We continue to demonstrate year-over-year improvement in operating expenses. In fiscal 2004, total operating expenses
were $354.4 million compared to $375.3 million in the prior year and $520.2 million in 2002. These amounts include
restructuring expenses as previously described as well as selling, general, and administrative (SG&A) charges of

$304.1 million, $319.8 million, and $399.7 million, respectively. Design and research costs included in total operating
expenses were $40.0 million, $39.1 million, and $38.9 million for 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

The decline in SG&A expense from fiscal 2003 of $15.7 million or 4.9 percent was primarily the result of lower overall
compensation, benefit, and depreciation expenses. The majority of these savings are a direct result of our restructuring
actions in recent years. We also experienced a reduction in customer bad debt expenses in the current year as
compared to fiscal 2003. This reduction resulted from an overall improvement in the aging of our accounts receivable,
which reduced the level of required reserves in the current year. Partially offsetting these declines were increased
current year expenses totaling $3.6 million resulting from the consolidation of OP Spectrum.

Our fiscal 2002 SG&A expenses included a pretax charge totaling $4.3 million related to a legal judgment from a
1999 lawsuit. Early in fiscal 2004, we received a favorable court ruling on the matter. Accordingly, we reduced our 2004
SG&A expenses by $5.2 million from the reversal of the related legal and interest accruals.

Pretax variable compensation expense/(credits) included in our current year operating expenses totaled $9.4 million.
This compares to $3.7 million last year and $(3.1) million in fiscal 2002. The credits recognized in 2002 related to the
reduction of incentive bonus accruals that were established in a prior period.

Our fiscal 2002 operating expenses included $15.6 million in charges from the accelerated depreciation of certain
technology-related assets. Also included in that year was approximately $3.1 million in goodwill asset amortization
expense. Under an accounting rule that became effective in fiscal 2003, amortization expense of goodwill assets

is no longer recognized.

Expenses for design and research within total operating expenses include royalty payments paid to designers

of our products as the products are sold. These payments, which totaled $5.4 million, $5.8 million, and $5.0 million,
in fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively, are considered to be variable costs of the products being sold.
Accordingly, we do not consider them research and development costs as discussed in Note 1 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Operating earnings in fiscal year 2004 of $61.2 million improved by $12.9 million over our fiscal 2003 level. On a

percent-of-sales basis, operating earnings totaled 4.6 percent in fiscal 2004 compared to 3.6 percent in 2003. In fiscal
2002, we posted an operating loss of $79.9 million or negative 5.4 percent of net sales.
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Other Expenses and Income

Net other expenses totaled $9.6 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $12.5 million in 2003 and $11.1 million in 2002.
The year-over-year decline between 2003 and 2004 was caused primarily by an accounting charge related to our
investment in Spectrum as discussed below. Lower current year interest charges also contributed to the decline.
Changes in foreign exchange rates and the resulting transaction gains between years partially offset the decline.

During 2003, we recognized a $2.2 million pretax charge related to the impairment of our equity investment
in Spectrum. As previously discussed, we increased our ownership stake in this dealer during the first quarter of this year,
and its financial statements are now being consolidated.

Interest expense in the current year was $1.6 million lower than in 2003. Lower year-over-year debt levels and
increased savings resulting from our interest rate swap arrangements were the reason for this decline.

Finally, we recorded a foreign currency transaction gain in fiscal 2004 of $0.1 million compared to $0.9 million
in the prior year.

Income Taxes

In the fourth quarter of 2004, we recorded a benefit from the release of tax reserves totaling $6.9 million. These
reserves were released as a result of the closure of IRS audits for the years 1999, 2000, and 2001. As a result of this
adjustment, we reported a 17.1 percent effective tax rate for the full fiscal year. Excluding the impact of this reserve
adjustment, our effective tax rate for the year totaled 30.3 percent. This adjusted rate was lower than our earlier
estimates for the full year due to year-end state tax true-ups on the actual full year results. We expect our long-term
effective tax rate to be approximately 36 percent. Our effective tax rate was 34.9 percent in fiscal 2003 and 38.5
percentin 2002.

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

We adopted the revised provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation

of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46(R) at the end of fiscal 2004. This new accounting standard broadens the
requirements for determining whether a company is required to consolidate the financial statements of another entity.
In adopting FIN 46(R), we determined the need to consolidate the financial statements of two independent contract
furniture dealerships to which we have provided ongoing financial support through loans and/or financial guarantees.

As a result of this consolidation, we recorded a non-cash cumulative effect loss of $0.5 million, or slightly less

than $0.01 per share, net of tax. As this new accounting standard was adopted at the end of the current fiscal year,
the consolidation had no material impact on our fiscal 2004 Consolidated Statement of Operations beyond that

of the cumulative effect. In the future, the results of operations of these two dealers will be included in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations. The effect of adoption on our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of May 29, 2004, was an
increase to assets of approximately $2.0 million and liabilities of $2.6 million. Refer to Note 4 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information on FIN 46(R).

Change in Accounting Principle

At the beginning of fiscal 2004, we converted a portion of our remaining FIFO-based domestic inventories to LIFO

for inventory valuation purposes. Due to the facility rationalization and consolidation resulting from our restructuring
activities in recent years, we determined it was more appropriate to account for these inventories using the LIFO
method. There was no cumulative effect of this change in accounting principle, and the impact on our fiscal 2004
results was not material.

Net Earnings

Net earnings totaled $42.3 million in fiscal 2004 or $0.58 per share after the impact of the cumulative effect

of accounting change. This compares to net earnings of $23.3 million or $0.31 per share in 2003. In fiscal 2002,
we reported a net loss of $56.0 million or $0.74 per share. The per-share impact of restructuring charges recognized
during fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002 totaled approximately $0.09, $0.14, and $0.68, net of taxes, respectively.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The table below presents certain key cash flow and capital highlights.

(In Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Cash and cash equivalents $ 189.2 $ 185.5 $124.0
Short term investments $ 107 $ 115 $ 111
Cash generated from operating activities $ 827 $ 144.7 $ 54.6
Cash used for investing activities $ (21.9) $ (7.3) $ (25.8)
Cash used for financing activities $ (60.0) $ (82.2) $ (42.2)
Capital expenditures $ (26.7) $ (29.0) $ (52.4)
Interest-bearing debt $207.2 $223.0 $235.1
Available unsecured credit facility(s) $ 186.2 $ 189.0 $200.0
Stock repurchased and retired $ (62.0) $ (61.9) $ (19.3)
Pension plan contributions $ (28.3) $ (32.1) $ (37.4)
Restructuring-related cash outflows $ (12.8) $ (14.4) $ (31.3)

(6) Beginning in fiscal 2003, outstanding letters of credit were applied against our unsecured credit facility. Accordingly, the amounts shown for 2003 and 2004
are net of these letters of credit.

Interest-bearing debt totaled $207.2 million at the end of fiscal 2004 compared to $223.0 million in 2003 and
$235.1 million in 2002. The current year amount includes $1.5 million related to debt obligations of the entities
consolidated under FIN 46. Outstanding standby letters of credit at the end of fiscal years 2004 and 2003 totaled
$13.8 million and $11.0 million, respectively. These letters of credit represented the only usage against our
unsecured revolving credit facility as of those dates. We were in compliance with all provisions of our debt covenants
throughout the past three fiscal years.

During the current year, we entered into two interest-rate swap arrangements to convert a total of $65 million of fixed-
rate debt to a variable-rate basis. These new arrangements are in addition to a previous swap transaction entered
into at the end of fiscal 2002. As of the end of fiscal 2004, the portion of our total interest-bearing debt that was
effectively converted to a variable-rate basis through these arrangements totaled $82 million. Interest expense
savings resulting from the swap arrangements totaled approximately $1.6 million in fiscal 2004 and $0.9 million

in fiscal 2003.

Average 12-month days sales outstanding (DSO) in accounts receivable and inventory totaled 51.0 at the end of

fiscal 2004 compared to 52.2 in the prior year and 59.6 in 2002. During fiscal 2004, we experienced relatively strong
collections and a general improvement in our accounts receivable aging categories. Our gross accounts receivable
balance at May 29, 2004, increased approximately $12.0 million or 8.7 percent from the end of fiscal 2003. This was
driven mainly by increased sales activity in the current year fourth quarter. This is also the primary reason for the
year-over-year increase in gross inventories.

The recorded allowance for non-collectible accounts, as a percent of gross accounts receivable, totaled 5.4 percent,
9.3 percent, and 10.3 percent as of the end of fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The reduction in the current
year percentage is attributable to the overall improvement in the quality of our accounts receivable aging.

Cash Flow—Operating Activities ~ Cash flow generated from operating activities totaled $82.7 million in the current
year. This compares to $144.7 million in 2003 and $54.6 million in 2002. The decline in cash flow of $62.0 million
between fiscal 2003 and 2004 relates primarily to tax refunds received in the prior year as well as a significant shift
in working capital balances.

Federal tax refunds received during fiscal 2003 increased cash flow by $42.8 million. These refunds related mainly

to net operating losses generated in fiscal year 2002. By comparison, we received federal refunds of only $5.7 million
in the current year.
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As a reminder, in fiscal 2003 we made cash payments totaling $20.4 million for taxes and interest related to our
2002 settlement with the IRS concerning our COLI program. These payments reduced operating cash flows, partially
offsetting the favorable changes in working capital balances discussed below.

From a working capital perspective, we received a much larger cash flow benefit in fiscal 2003 as compared to the
current year. Most of this benefit was driven by a significant increase in accrued income taxes and declines

in accounts receivable and inventory balances between 2002 and 2003. By contrast, in fiscal 2004 these working
capital balances moved in the opposite direction, resulting in a year-over-year decrease in accrued income taxes
and increases in both accounts receivable and inventories. These negative factors were partially offset in 2004

by a production-driven increase in accounts payable, higher relative compensation and benefit accruals, and favorable
changes in deferred taxes.

We made cash contributions to our employee pension funds totaling $28.3 million in fiscal 2004. In fiscal years 2003
and 2002, such contributions totaled $32.1 million and $37.4 million, respectively. These payments reduced
operating cash flows in each of these years. Subsequent to the end of fiscal 2004, in July 2004, we made additional
cash contributions totalling $23 million to our domestic pension plans.

Again in fiscal 2004, we incurred operating cash outflows related to our restructuring activities. Cash payments
in the year totaled $12.8 million. We made similar cash payments in 2003 and 2002 totaling $14.4 million and $31.3
million, respectively.

Cash Flow—Investing Activities

Cash outflows for investing activities in fiscal 2004 totaled $21.9 million and were driven primarily by capital
expenditures offset by proceeds from the sale of fixed assets. These same factors combined in fiscal 2003 to generate
the majority of the $7.3 million outflow in that year. In fiscal year 2002, cash outflows totaling $25.8 million, which
related mainly to capital expenditures, were offset by a $14.0 million cash receipt from the net surrender value

of our COLI policies.

Capital expenditures in the current year totaled $26.7 million; down slightly from $29.0 million in fiscal 2003. In fiscal
2002, our spending was substantially higher in this area totaling $52.4 million. We have made significant progress

in recent years adjusting our annual capital spending to be in line with business levels. We will continue to carefully
monitor and challenge our spending in this area while at the same time taking care not to eliminate investments

that are important to the long-term success of our operations and overall strategy.

As of the end of fiscal 2004, we had outstanding commitments for future capital purchases of approximately $2.7
million. We expect fiscal 2005 capital expenditures to total between $40 million and $50 million.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, we completed the sale of our Holland, Michigan, Chair Plant. This facility

was exited in connection with our restructuring plan, and its sale generated net proceeds of approximately $6.0 million.
In fiscal 2003, we received proceeds totaling $20.2 million from the sale of our Rocklin, California, and West Michigan
Powder Coat Technology facilities. Both of these facilities were exited in connection with prior restructuring actions.

Cash Flow—Financing Activities

(In Millions, Except Share and Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002
Shares acquired 2,462,996 3,642,013 800,721
Cost of shares acquired $ 62.0 $ 61.9 $ 19.3
Weighted average cost per share acquired $ 25.18 $ 16.99 $24.10
Shares issued 1,384,094 313,155 939,628
Weighted average price per share issued $21.61 $13.83 $ 19.05
Cash dividends $ 10.6 $ 10.8 $ 11.0
Dividends paid per share $ .15 $ .15 $ .15
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Cash outflows for financing activities totaled $60.0 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $82.2 million in 2003
and $42.2 million in 2002.

As was the case in 2003, share repurchases in the current year accounted for a majority of the outflows in this category.
In 2004, we repurchased fewer shares than in the prior year; however, they were acquired at a significantly higher
weighted average cost. This resulted in essentially the same total cash outflow for repurchases between years. During
the current year, our Board of Directors gave us approval to continue our share repurchase program with an additional
$100 million authorization limit. As of the end of fiscal 2004, we had approximately $89.7 million available on our
authorization to be used for future share repurchases. We continue to believe this is an effective means of returning
value to our shareholders.

During fiscal 2004 we received cash totaling $27.4 million related to the issuance of our common stock. This was
driven mainly by the exercise of stock options, the volume of which increased significantly from last year presumably
due to the current year increase in our stock price. In fiscal 2003, cash received from the issuance of stock totaled
only $3.9 million and related primarily to issuances in connection with employee benefit plans.

Repayments of long-term debt totaled $14.8 million in fiscal 2004. The majority of this related to the current year
scheduled payment on our private placement notes. We also repaid approximately $1.8 million in remaining debt
related to a prior dealer acquisition. In fiscal 2003, repayments totaled $13.4 million with the majority again

related to the private placement. Also included in our 2003 repayments was approximately $2.8 million related

to short-term bank debt associated with our former Australian business. Debt repayments in fiscal 2002 were $25.6
million. Our next scheduled debt repayment totals $13.0 million and will be made in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005.

We paid cash dividends of $10.6 million, $10.8 million, and $11.0 million during fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002,
respectively. In April 2004, we announced a 100 percent increase in our quarterly dividend rate, bringing it to $0.0725
per share. We will begin paying at this new rate in the first quarter of fiscal 2005.

We believe cash on hand, cash generated from operations, and our credit facilities will provide adequate liquidity
to fund near term and future business operations and capital needs.

Contingencies

The company, for a number of years, has sold various products to the United States Government under General
Services Administration (“GSA”) multiple award schedule contracts. Under the terms of these contracts, the GSA
is permitted to audit the company’s compliance with the GSA contracts. The company has occasionally noted errors
in complying with contract provisions. From time to time the company has notified the GSA of known instances

of non-compliance (whether favorable or unfavorable to the GSA) once such circumstances are identified and
investigated. The company does not believe that any of the errors brought to the GSA’s attention will adversely
affect its relationship with the GSA. Currently no GSA audits are either scheduled or in process. Management does
not expect resolution of the completed audits or non-compliance notifications to have a material adverse effect

on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

On March 19, 2003, a settlement was reached in mediation concerning an audit of the company’s compliance

with its international GSA contract for the years 1991, 1992, and 1993. The terms of the settlement required the company
to pay $0.6 million to the United States Government. This payment was made during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003.
The financial impact of this settlement was previously reserved for, and consequently, it had no impact

on fiscal 2003 net earnings.

The company is also involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of management, the outcome of such proceedings and litigation currently pending will not materially effect
the company’s consolidated financial statements.

Basis of Presentation

Fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002 each contained 52 weeks. This is the basis upon which all of the above weekly
average data is presented.
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Contractual Obligations

Contractual obligations associated with our ongoing business and financing activities will result in cash payments
in future periods. The following table summarizes the amounts and estimated timing of these future cash payments.
Further information regarding debt obligations can be found in Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Likewise, further information related to operating leases can be found in Note 11.

Payments due by period

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations (In Millions) Total 1year 1-3years 3-5years 5 years
Long-Term Debt(7> 13) $207.0 $ 13.0 $ 16.0 $ 3.0 $ 175.0
Estimated Interest on Debt Obligations(®) 79.1 12.5 23.6 22.7 20.3
Operating Leases 65.7 21.0 253 13.0 6.4
Purchase obligations® 25.8 23.4 2.1 0.3 -
Pension Plan Funding(10) 27.2 27.2 - - -
Shareholder Dividends(11, 13) 5.2 5.2 - - -
Other(12,13) 11.5 1.4 2.7 2.6 4.8
Total $421.5 $103.7 $ 69.7 $ 41.6 $206.5

(7) Amounts indicated do not include the recorded fair value of interest rate swap instruments. ~ (8) Estimated future interest payments on our outstanding

debt obligations are based on interest rates as of May 29, 2004. Actual cash outflows may differ significantly due to changes in underlying interest rates

and timing of principal payments.  (9) Purchase obligations consist of non-cancelable purchase orders and commitments for goods, services, and capital assets.
(10) Pension funding commitments are defined as the expected minimum funding requirements and planned voluntary contributions to be made in the following
12-month period. As of May 29, 2004, the total accumulated benefit obligation for our domestic and international employee pension benefit plans was $277.2
million.  (11) Represents the recorded dividend payable as of May 29, 2004. Future dividend payments are not considered contractual obligations until
declared.  (12) Other contractual obligations represent long-term commitments related to deferred employee compensation benefits, minimum designer royalty
payments, and scheduled commitments related to the acquisition of intellectual property rights.  (13) Total balance is reflected as a liability in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at May 29, 2004.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Guarantees

We provide certain guarantees to third parties under various arrangements in the form of product warranties, loan
guarantees, standby letters of credit, lease guarantees, performance bonds, and indemnification provisions.
These arrangements are accounted for and disclosed in accordance with FIN 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirement for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” as described

in Note 20 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Variable Interest Entities

On occasion, we provide financial support to certain dealers in the form of term loans, lines of credit, and/or loan
guarantees. At May 29, 2004, we were considered the primary beneficiary of two such relationships due to the nature
of ourvariable interests in these entities as further discussed in Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In addition to these, we also hold variable interests in other dealerships where we are not the primary beneficiary.
The risks and rewards associated with our interests in these other dealerships are primarily limited to our outstanding
loans and guarantee amounts. At May 29, 2004, the company’s maximum exposure to any potential losses related

to financing provided to such entities in the form of term loans and/or lines of credit totaled $1.3 million. Information
on our exposure related to outstanding loan guarantees provided to such entities is included in Note 20

of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies

We strive to report our financial results clearly and understandably. We follow accounting principles generally accepted
in the U.S. in preparing our consolidated financial statements, which require us to make certain estimates and apply
judgments that affect our financial position and results of operations. We continually review our accounting policies
and financial information disclosures. Following is a summary of our more significant accounting policies that require
the use of estimates and judgments in preparing the financial statements.

Receivable Allowances

We base our allowances related to receivables on known customer exposures, historical credit experience, and

the specific identification of other potential problems, including the economic climate. These methods are applied
to all major receivables, including trade, lease, and notes receivables. In addition to known or judgmental
components of our allowances, we follow a policy that consistently applies reserve rates based on the age of
outstanding accounts receivable. Actual collections can differ from our historical experience, and if economic

or business conditions deteriorate significantly, adjustments to these reserves could be required.

The accounts receivable allowance totaled $8.1 million and $12.9 million at May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003,
respectively. This year-over-year reduction is attributable to the overall improvement in the quality of our accounts
receivable aging. The notes receivable allowance totaled $1.4 million and $4.4 million at May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003,
respectively. This year-over-year reduction is attributable to current year collections and the elimination of intercompany
balances with OP Spectrum LLP consolidated upon the acquisition as further described in Note 2 and with

certain dealerships consolidated upon the adoption of FIN 46(R) as further described in Note 4 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Goodwill

The net carrying value of our goodwill at May 29, 2004, totaled $39.1 million. Beginning in fiscal year 2003, we ceased
recognizing amortization expense on these goodwill assets in accordance with the accounting guidance in Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142. Under this new rule, we are required to perform an annual test on our
goodwill assets, by reporting unit, to determine whether the asset values are impaired. If impairment is determined,
we are required to recognize a charge sufficient to reduce the net carrying value of the assets to their estimated

fair market value.

We performed this test in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 and determined that no impairment exists. Our estimate

of reporting unit fair value was based on discounted cash flows. Accordingly, we were required to make certain
assumptions regarding future profitability and cash flows. It also required us to use an assumed discount rate, which
we set at 10 percent. We believe this level is conservative in that it exceeds our estimated weighted average cost of
capital. Changes to the discount rate used in this analysis have a significant impact on the results of the impairment
test. Our analysis indicates that we could increase this discount rate by more than 2 full percentage points

before the results of the test indicated impairment.

Warranty Reserve

We stand behind our products and keep our promises to customers. From time to time, issues arise resulting in

the need to incur costs to correct or replace problems with products or services. We have established warranty reserves
for the various costs associated with these guarantees. General warranty reserves are based on historical claims
experience and periodically adjusted for business levels. Specific reserves are established once an issue is identified.
The valuations of such reserves are based on the estimated costs to correct the problem. Actual costs may vary

and result in an adjustment to our reserves.

Inventory Reserves

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The inventories of certain subsidiaries are valued using the
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. The inventories of other subsidiaries are valued using first-in, first-out method.

We establish reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, based on material movement and a component of judgment
for consideration of current events, such as economic conditions, that may affect inventory. The amount of reserve
required to record inventory at lower of cost or market may be adjusted as conditions change.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities, and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income

in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse.

We have net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future taxable income.
Future tax benefits for NOL carryforwards are recognized to the extent that realization of these benefits is considered
more likely than not. We base this determination on the expectation that related operations will be sufficiently
profitable or various tax planning strategies available to us will enable us to utilize the NOL carryforwards.

When information becomes available that raises doubts about the realization of a deferred income tax asset, a valuation
allowance is established.

Self-Insurance Reserves

With the assistance of independent actuaries, we establish reserves for workers’ compensation and general liability
exposures. The reserves are established based on actuarially determined expected future claims. We also established
reserves for health benefit exposures based on historical claims information along with certain assumptions about
future trends. The methods and assumptions used to determine the liabilities are applied consistently, although actual
claim experience can vary. We maintain certain insurance coverage for risk exposures through traditional
premium-based insurance policies.

Pension and other Post-Retirement Benefits

The determination of the obligation and expense for pension and other post-retirement benefits depends on certain
actuarial assumptions used in calculating such amounts. Among the most significant of these assumptions

are the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, and expected rate of increases in compensation
and healthcare costs. These assumptions are reviewed annually based on internal and external factors. Adjustments
to the assumptions could result in changes to the future expense and liabilities. Refer to Note 12 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for more information regarding costs and assumptions used for employee benefit plans.

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate long-lived assets and acquired businesses for indicators of impairment when events or circumstances
indicate that a risk may be present. Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment are based on market
conditions, operational performance, and estimated future cash flows. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset is
considered impaired, an impairment charge is recorded to adjust the asset to its estimated fair value.

New Accounting Standards

In May 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued its consensus on Issue No. 03-04, “Determining the Classification
and Benefit Attribution Method for a ‘Cash Balance’ Pension Plan” (EITF 03-04). In this consensus, the Task Force
concluded that the actuarially determined pension expense for cash balance plans that have fixed-interest credit rates
and are not pay-related, be determined using the traditional unit credit method of accounting. The company adopted

the provisions of EITF 03-04 effective at the beginning of the first quarter of fiscal 2004. The adoption of EITF 03-04

did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both
Liabilities and Equity” (SFAS 150). SFAS 150 modified the traditional definition of “liabilities” to encompass certain
obligations that must be settled through the issuance of equity shares. These obligations are considered liabilities

as opposed to equity or mezzanine financing under the provisions of SFAS 150. In addition, SFAS 150 increased

the required disclosures of alternate settlement methods related to these obligations. This new standard was effective
immediately for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and for all other financial
instruments beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not have an impact

on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued its consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with

Multiple Deliverables” (EITF 00-21). In this consensus, the Task Force addressed certain aspects of the accounting
by a vendor for arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating activities. The company adopted
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the provisions of EITF 00-21 effective at the beginning of the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The adoption of EITF 00-21
did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(FIN 46(R)). This new rule requires that companies consolidate a variable interest entity if the company is deemed

the primary beneficiary subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s activities, or is entitled
to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns, or both. The company has no special purpose entities,

as defined, nor has it acquired a variable interest in an entity where the company is the primary beneficiary since
January 31, 2003. The provisions of FIN 46(R) are required to be applied as of the end of the first reporting period
that ends after March 15, 2004, for the variable interest entities in which the company holds a variable interest that

it acquired on or before January 31, 2003. The company adopted FIN 46(R) at end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004.
Refer to Note 4, Variable Interest Entities, for further discussion.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 revised 2003, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits” (SFAS 132(R)). This standard increases the existing disclosure requirements by requiring more
details about pension plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs and related information. Companies
will be required to segregate plan assets by category, such as debt, equity and real estate, and to provide certain
expected rates of return and other informational disclosures. SFAS 132(R) also requires companies to disclose various
elements of pension and post-retirement benefit costs in interim-period financial statements for quarters beginning
after December 15, 2003. The company adopted the additional annual disclosure provisions of SFAS 132(R) in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Refer to Note 12, Employee Benefit Plans, for further disclosures regarding pension

and other post-retirement benefits.

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued a consensus on Issue No. 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments” (EITF 03-01). In this consensus, the Task Force
required certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures related to debt and marketable equity securities classified

as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity under SFAS 115 that are in an unrealized loss position at the balance sheet date
but for which an other-than-temporary impairment has not been recognized. In addition, the Task Force developed a
basic model in evaluating whether investments within the scope of EITF 03-01 have other-than-temporary impairment.
The company adopted provisions of EITF 03-01 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Adoption of EITF 03-01 did not have
a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 1, Significant Accounting

and Reporting Policies, for further disclosures regarding short-term investments.

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003” (FSP 106-2) in response to the Act that was
signed into law on December 8, 2003. The Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D)
as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D. The provisions of FSP 106-2 provide guidance on the accounting treatment and required
disclosures relating to the effects of the Act. This guidance supersedes FASB Staff Position No. 106-1, “Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003”
(FSP 106-1). Currently, specific regulatory guidance does not exist regarding how to determine whether a plan is
considered actuarially equivalent, a key criterion under FSP 106-2. Accordingly, the company is currently in the process
of evaluating existing plan benefits to determine actuarial equivalency and the corresponding impact of the FSP on the
financial statements. The company expects to adopt the provisions of FSP 106-2 in the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Forward-Looking Statements

This discussion and other sections of our Annual Report contain forward-looking statements within the meaning

of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended,
that are based on management’s beliefs, assumptions, current expectations, estimates, and projections about the
office furniture industry, the economy, and the company itself. Words like “anticipates,” “believes,” “confident,”
“estimates,” “expects,” “forecasts,” “likely,” “plans,” “projects,” “should,” variations of such words, and similar
expressions identify such forward-looking statements. These statements do not guarantee future performance

and involve certain risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict with regard to timing, extent,
likelihood, and degree of occurrence. Therefore, actual results and outcomes may materially differ from what we
express or forecast. Furthermore, Herman Miller, Inc., undertakes no obligation to update, amend, or clarify forward-
looking statements.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

The company manufactures, markets, and sells its products throughout the world and, as a result, is subject
to changing economic conditions, which could reduce the demand for its products.

Favorable foreign currency fluctuations during fiscal 2004 resulted in increased earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes of $0.1 million. Additionally, the accumulated other comprehensive loss component of total
shareholders’ equity was reduced during fiscal 2004 by $3.4 million as a result of these changes. By comparison,
currency fluctuations in fiscal 2003 resulted in increased pretax earnings of $0.9 million and reduced accumulated
other comprehensive loss by $7.7 million. Because the company conducts business internationally, it will continue

to be subject to related currency exchange rate fluctuations.

The company maintains fixed-rate debt. For fixed-rate debt, changes in interest rates generally affect fair market value
but not earnings or cash flows. The company does not have an incentive to prepay fixed rate debt prior to maturity,

and as a result, interest rate risk and changes in fair market value should not have a significant impact on such debt until
the company would be required to refinance it. The company has three separate interest rate swap agreements that
effectively convert $82 million in total of fixed-rate debt to a variable-rate basis at the end of the fiscal year. This debt
is subject to changes in interest rates, which could have a material impact on the company’s financial results.

The interest rate swap derivative instruments are held and used by the company as a tool for managing interest rate risk.
They are not used for trading or speculative purposes. The counterparties to these swap instruments are large major
financial institutions that the company believes are of high-quality creditworthiness. While the company may be
exposed to potential losses due to the credit risk of non-performance by these counterparties, such losses are not
anticipated. The swap arrangements resulted in the reduction of net interest expense by approximately $1.6 million
and $0.9 million in fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively. In fiscal 2002, the effect on net interest expense was not
material. As of May 29, 2004, the swap instruments had a combined negative fair value of approximately $1.3 million.
All cash flows related to the company’s interest rate swap agreements are denominated in U.S. dollars. For further
information, refer to Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk in Notes
17 and 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Expected cash flows (notional amounts) over the next five years and thereafter related to debt instruments
are as follows.
(In Millions) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter Total @

Long-term Debt:
Fixed Rate $ 13.0 $ 13.0 $ 3.0 $ 3.0 $ - $175.0 $207.0
Weighted Average Interest Rate =7.02%

Derivative Financial Instruments

Related to Debt—Interest Rate Swaps:
Pay Variable/Receive Fixed $ 10.0 $10.0 $ - L $ - $ - $ 20.0
Pay Interest Rate = 3.49% (at May 29, 2004)
Received Interest Rate = 6.37%

Pay Variable/Receive Fixed $ 3.0 $ 3.0 $ 3.0 $ 3.0 $ - $ - $ 12.0
Pay Interest Rate = 5.30% (at May 29, 2004)
Received Interest Rate = 6.52%

Pay Variable/Receive Fixed $ - $ - $ - 5 - $
Pay Interest Rate = 4.79% (at May 29, 2004)
Receive Interest Rate = 7.125%

$ 50.0 $ 50.0

(1) Amount does not include the recorded fair value of the swap instruments, which totaled $(1.3) million at the end of fiscal 2004.
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Quarterly Financial Data

Summary of the quarterly operating results on a consolidated basis for the years ended May 29, 2004, May 31, 2003,

and June 1, 2002.

First Second Third Fourth
(In Millions, Except Per Share Data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Fiscal 2004
Net sales(® $3245  $3303  $3296  $3538
Gross margin®3) 101.6 102.0 99.3 112.5
Earnings before cumulative effect of accounting changes(3' 4) 6.2 9.1 7.8 19.8
Cumulative effect of accounting changes:

Variable interest entities(1) — — — (0.5)
Net earnings 4) 6.2 9.1 7.8 19.3
Earnings per share—basic, before cumulative effect of accounting changes(") .08 12 11 .28
Earnings per share-basic(®) .08 12 11 .27
Earnings per share—diluted, before cumulative effect of accounting changes(“) .08 12 11 27
Earnings per share-diluted® $ .08 $ .12 $ .11 $ 27
Fiscal 2003
Net sales $346.9 $357.3 $310.4 $321.9
Gross margin 109.2 113.7 93.5 107.2
Net earnings 9.8 11.8 3.0 (1.3)
Earnings per share-basic 13 .16 .04 (.02)
Earnings per share-diluted@ $ .13 $§ .16 § .04 $ (02
Fiscal 2002
Net sales(® $410.3 $395.0 $340.7  $3226
Gross marginG) 125.8 118.9 98.5 97.0
Net earnings (2.9) (22.7) (11.6) (18.8)
Earnings per share-basic (.04) (.30) (.15) (.25)
Earnings per share-diluted® $ (.04) $ (30 $ (15) $ (.25)

(1) Effective May 29, 2004, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46(R)). For further information,
refer to Note 4 of the Consolidated Financial Statements filed as part of this report.  (2) For fiscal quarters ending with a reported loss, shares resulting from stock

option plans would be anti-dilutive to earnings per share and have not been included in diluted earnings per share.

(3) Sum of the quarters does not equal

the annual balance reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations due to rounding. ~ (4) The fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 was benefited by the release
of tax reserves totaling $6.9 million. For further information, refer to Note 16 of the Consolidated Financial Statements filed as a part of this report.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data) May 29, 2004 May 31, 2003 June 1, 2002
Net Sales $1,338.3 $1,336.5 $1,468.7
Cost of Sales 922.7 912.9 1,028.4
Gross Margin 415.6 423.6 440.3
Operating Expenses:
Selling, general, and administrative 304.1 319.8 399.7
Design and research 40.0 39.1 38.9
Restructuring expenses 10.3 16.4 81.6
Total Operating Expenses 354.4 375.3 520.2
Operating Earnings 61.2 48.3 (79.9)
Other Expenses (Income):
Interest expense 14.1 15.7 18.2
Interest income (4.5) (6.6) 6.2)
Other, net - 3.4 0.9
Net Other Expenses 9.6 12.5 111
Earnings from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes 51.6 35.8 91.0)
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) on Earnings from Continuing Operations 8.8 12.5 (35.0)
Earnings Before Cumulative Effect of a Change In Accounting Principle 42.8 233 (56.0)
Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle, net of tax expense of $0.4 (Note 4) (0.5) -
Net Earnings $ 423 §$ 233 §$ (56.0)
Earnings Per Share—Basic:
Earnings Before Cumulative Effect of a Change In Accounting Principle $§ 059 § 031 $ (0.74)
Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle, net of tax 0.01) — —
Earnings Per Share—Basic $ 058 $ 031 $ (0.74)
Earnings Per Share—Diluted:
Earnings Before Cumulative Effect of a Change In Accounting Principle $§ 059 § 031 $ (0.74)
Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle, net of tax 0.01) - -
Earnings Per Share—Diluted $ 058 $ 031 $ (0.74)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Millions, Except Share and Per Share Data) May 29, 2004 May 31, 2003

Assets

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 189.2 $ 185.5
Short-term investments 10.7 11.5
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $8.1 in 2004 and $12.9in 2003 142.4 125.6
Inventories 38.1 31.4
Prepaid expenses and other 50.2 59.5
Total Current Assets 430.6 413.5

Property and Equipment:

Land and improvements 19.1 19.0
Buildings and improvements 129.3 125.7
Machinery and equipment 545.0 541.4
Construction in progress 6.7 10.9
700.1 697.0

Less: accumulated depreciation 491.6 451.3
Net Property and Equipment 208.5 245.7
Notes Receivable, less allowances of $1.4 in 2004 and $4.4 in 2003 1.9 4.6
Goodwill 39.1 39.1
Other Intangible Assets, net 5.9 6.3
Deferred Taxes 7.3 25.9
Other Assets 21.4 22.2
Total Assets $714.7 $757.3

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:

Unfunded checks $ 8.6 $ 121
Current maturities of long-term debt 13.0 13.6
Notes payable 1.5 .
Accounts payable 90.4 73.9
Accrued liabilities 123.8 137.6
Total Current Liabilities 237.3 237.2
Long-term Debt, less current maturities 192.7 209.4
Other Liabilities 90.1 119.7
Total Liabilities 520.1 566.3
Shareholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, no par value (10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued) — —
Common stock, $0.20 par value (240,000,000 shares authorized, 71,750,979

and 72,829,881 shares issued and outstanding in 2004 and 2003) 14.4 14.6
Additional paid-in capital - -
Retained earnings 246.1 250.5
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (57.6) (62.6)
Key executive stock programs (8.3) (11.5)
Total Shareholders’ Equity 194.6 191.0
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $714.7 $757.3
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Common Additional Retained  Accumulated Other  Key Executive Total Shareholders
(In Millions, Except Share and Per Share Data) Stock  Paid-In Capital Earnings Comprehensive Loss ~ Stock Programs Equity
Balance, June 2, 2001 $ 15.2 $ — $365.6 $ (17.4) $(11.9) $351.5
Net earnings - - (56.0) - — (56.0)
Current year translation adjustment — — — (1.6) — (1.6)
Minimum pension liability (net of tax of $8.8 million) - - - (16.2) - (16.2)
Unrealized holding gain on investments available-for-sale - - — 0.9 - 0.9
Total comprehensive loss — (72.9)
Cash dividends ($.145 per share) — — (11.0) — - (11.0)
Exercise of stock options 0.1 7.9 - . - 8.0
Employee stock purchase plan 0.1 3.8 - - - 3.9
Tax benefit relating to stock options — 1.4 - — - 1.4
Repurchase and retirement of
800,721 shares of common stock 0.2 (16.3) (2.8) — - (19.3)
Stock grants earned - - - - 1.4 1.4
Stock grants issued — 4.6 - — (4.7) (0.1)
Deferred compensation plan - (1.4) - - 1.4 -
Stock purchase assistance plan - - - - 0.1 0.1
Balance, June 1, 2002 $ 15.2 $§ — $2958 $ (343 $(13.7) $263.0
Net earnings - - 23.3 - - 23.3
Current year translation adjustment - - - 7.7 - 7.7
Minimum pension liability (net of tax of $22.1 million) - - - (36.1) - (36.1)
Unrealized holding gain on investments available-for-sale - - - 0.1 - 0.1
Total comprehensive loss - - - - - (5.0)
Cash dividends ($.145 per share) - - (10.8) - - (10.8)
Exercise of stock options - 0.7 - — - 0.7
Employee stock purchase plan 0.1 3.1 - - - 3.2
Tax benefit relating to stock options - 0.2 - - - 0.2
Repurchase and retirement of
3,642,013 shares of common stock 0.7) (3.4) (57.8) - - (61.9)
Directors’ fees — 0.1 - — - 0.1
Stock grants earned - - - - 1.5 1.5
Stock grants issued — 0.3 - — 0.3) —
Deferred compensation plan — (1.0) — — 1.0 —
Balance, May 31, 2003 $ 14.6 $ — $2505 $ (62.6)  $(11.5) $191.0
Net earnings - - 42.3 - - 42.3
Current year translation adjustment - - - 3.4 - 3.4
Minimum pension liability (net of tax of $1.2 million) - - - 2.2 - 2.2
Unrealized holding loss on investments available-for-sale - - — 0.6) — (0.6)
Total comprehensive income — — - — - 47.3
Cash dividends ($.18125 per share) - - (13.1) — - (13.1)
Exercise of stock options 0.3 24.2 - - - 24.5
Employee stock purchase plan - 2.8 - - - 2.8
Tax benefit relating to stock options — 2.5 - - - 2.5
Repurchase and retirement of
2,462,996 shares of common stock (0.5) (27.9) (33.6) — - (62.0)
Directors’ fees - 0.1 - - - 0.1
Stock grants earned - - — - 1.5 1.5
Stock grants issued — 0.1 — — 0.1) —
Deferred compensation plan — (1.8) — — 1.8 —
Balance, May 29, 2004 $ 14.4 $ — $246.1 $ (57.6) $ (8.3) $194.6
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In Millions) May 29, 2004 May 31, 2003 June 1, 2002

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net earnings $ 423 $ 233 $ (56.0)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax (Note 4) 0.5 - -

Other (Note 19) 39.9 121.4 110.6

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 82.7 144.7 54.6

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Notes receivable repayments 48.0 189.2 341.3

Notes receivable issued (48.9) (190.0) (334.4)
Short-term investment purchases (9.0 (4.5) (38.9)
Short-term investment sales 9.3 4.2 42.3

Property and equipment additions (26.7) (29.0) (52.4)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 6.7 20.7 0.7

Surrender of COLI policies - - 14.0

Net cash paid for acquisitions (Note 2) 0.2)

Other, net (1.1) 2.1 1.6

Net Cash Used for Investing Activities (21.9) (7.3) (25.8)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Short-term debt borrowings - - 1.8

Short-term debt repayments - (2.8 (2.4)
Long-term debt repayments (14.8) (10.6) (23.2)
Dividends paid (10.6) (10.8) (11.0)
Common stock issued 27.4 3.9 11.9

Common stock repurchased and retired (62.0) 61.9) (19.3)
Net Cash Used for Financing Activities (60.0) (82.2) (42.2)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.7 6.3 0.9)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3.5 61.5 (14.3)
Cash Increase from Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle (Note 4) 0.2 - -

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 185.5 124.0 138.3

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $189.2 $185.5 $124.0
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1 Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies

The following is a summary of significant accounting and reporting policies not reflected elsewhere in the accompanying
financial statements.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Herman Miller, Inc., and its majority-owned domestic
and foreign subsidiaries. Effective May 29, 2004, the consolidated financial statements also include variable
interest entities (VIEs) of which Herman Miller, Inc. is the primary beneficiary as further described in Note 4,
Variable Interest Entities. The consolidated entities are collectively referred to as the “company.” All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions, including those involving VIEs, have been eliminated in the consolidated
financial statements.

Description of Business

The company researches, designs, manufactures, and distributes interior furnishings and provides related services
that support companies all over the world. The company’s products are sold primarily to or through independent
contract office furniture dealers. Accordingly, accounts and notes receivable in the accompanying balance sheets

are principally amounts due from the dealers.

Fiscal Year
The company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to May 31. The years ended May 29, 2004, May 31, 2003,
and June 1, 2002, each contained 52 weeks.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. The cumulative effects of translating the balance
sheet accounts from the functional currency into the United States dollar at current exchange rates and revenue and
expense accounts using average exchange rates for the period are included as a separate component of shareholders’
equity. Gains or losses arising from remeasuring foreign currency transactions into the appropriate currency are
included in determining net earnings. Gains (losses) arising from remeasuring foreign currency transactions into the
appropriate functional currency, which were included in determining net earnings, totaled $0.1 million, $0.9 million,
and $(0.5) million for the years ended May 29, 2004, May 31, 2003, and June 1, 2002, respectively.

Cash Equivalents

The company holds cash equivalents as part of its cash management function. Cash equivalents include money market
funds, time deposit investments, and treasury bills with original maturities of less than three months at the time

of purchase. The carrying value of cash equivalents, which approximates fair value, totaled $131.9 million and $141.5
million as of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, respectively. All cash and cash equivalents are high-credit quality
financial instruments, and the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution or instrument is limited.

Short-Term Investments

The company maintains a portfolio of short-term investments comprised of investment grade fixed-income and equity
securities. These investments are held at the company’s wholly owned insurance captive and are considered
“available-for-sale” as defined in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Accordingly, they have been recorded at fair market value based on quoted
market prices, with the resulting net unrealized holding gains or losses reflected as a component of comprehensive
income/(loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity. Net investment income recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations resulting from these investments totaled $0.5 million, $0.9 million, and $0.9
million for the years ended May 29, 2004, May 31, 2003, and June 1, 2002, respectively.
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The following is a summary of the carrying and market values of the company’s short-term investments

as of the dates indicated.

May 29, 2004
(In Millions) Cost  Unrealized Gain  Unrealized Loss Market Value
Foreign Government Debt Securities $ 55 $ 05 $ - $ 6.0
Corporate Bonds 4.8 - 0.1) 4.7
Total $ 103 $ 05 $ (0.1) $ 10.7
May 31, 2003
(In Millions) Cost  Unrealized Gain ~ Unrealized Loss Market Value
U.S. Government Debt Securities $ 1.0 $ - $ - $ 1.0
Foreign Government Debt Securities 7.1 0.9 - 8.0
Corporate Bonds 2.4 0.1 — 2.5
Total $ 105 $ 1.0 $ - $ 115
Maturities of short-term investments as of May 29, 2004, are as follows.
(In Millions) Cost Market Value
Due within one year $ 2.0 $ 21
Due after one year through five years 8.3 8.6
Due after five years — _
Total $ 103 $ 107

The following table summarizes the company’s investments with unrealized losses. The information is aggregated
by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position
as of May 29, 2004.

Less Than 12 Months
Market

Total
Unrealized

12 Months or Greater
Market

Unrealized Unrealized Market

(In Millions) Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss
Foreign Government Debt Securities $§ - $§ - $§ - $§ - $§ - $§ -
Corporate Bonds 3.6 0.1) - - 3.6 0.1)
Total $ 3.6 $ 01y $ - $ - $ 3.6 $ (0.1)

The unrealized loss on investments in corporate bonds is not considered other than temporary as the company
has the intent and ability to hold such securities to recovery.

Accounts Receivable Allowances

Reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable balances are based on known customer exposures, historical credit
experiences, and the specific identification of other potential problems expected in the collection of the receivables.
In addition, general allowances are determined based on the age of receivable balances in relation to their
respective due dates. Fully reserved balances are written off against the reserve once the company determines
collection to be unlikely.

Property, Equipment, and Depreciation

Property and equipment are stated at cost. The cost is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets, using
the straight-line method. Estimated useful lives range from 3 to 10 years for machinery and equipment and do not
exceed 40 years for buildings. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or 10 years.
The company capitalizes certain external and internal costs incurred in connection with the development, testing,

and installation of software for internal use. Software for internal use is included in property and equipment and

is depreciated over an estimated useful life of 5 years or less. As of the end of fiscal 2004, outstanding commitments

for future capital purchases approximated $2.7 million.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Long-Lived Assets

The company assesses the recoverability of its long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,”
which supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed of” effective the beginning of fiscal 2003. This assessment is performed whenever events or circumstances
such as current and projected future operating losses or changes in the business climate indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped and evaluated at the lowest level for which there are independent
and identifiable cash flows. The company considers historical performance and future estimated results in its
evaluation of potential impairment and then compares the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated future cash
flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) expected to result from the use of the asset. If the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds the expected future cash flows, the company measures and records an impairment loss

for the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. The estimation of fair value is made by discounting
the expected future cash flows at the rate the company uses to evaluate similar potential investments based on the best
information available at that time.

Refer to Note 3, Restructuring Charges for discussion of impairments recognized during fiscal years 2004, 2003,
and 2002 in connection with the company’s restructuring activities.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The company adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” in the first quarter of fiscal year 2003.

In accordance with SFAS 142, beginning in fiscal year 2003, the company no longer records amortization expense on its
remaining goodwill assets. Rather, the company is required to test the carrying value of goodwill for impairment at the
“reporting unit” level annually or more frequently if a triggering event occurs. As a matter of practice, the company
performs the required annual impairment testing of goodwill during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. Based on

the annual testing performed, the results indicated the fair value exceeded the recorded carrying value of the company’s
goodwill assets, and accordingly no impairment charge was required for the years ending May 29, 2004, and May 31,
2003. In addition, the carrying amount of goodwill during fiscal years 2004 and 2003 did not change.

The pro forma impact on fiscal year 2002 net earnings and earnings per share of no longer amortizing goodwill is
presented below.

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data) Year Ended June 1, 2002
Reported net earnings $ (56.0)
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax 2.8
Adjusted net earnings $ (53.2)
Reported earnings per share—basic $ (0.74)
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax 0.04
Adjusted earnings per share—basic $ (0.70)
Reported earnings per share—diluted $ (0.74)
Add back goodwill amortization, net of tax 0.04
Adjusted earnings per share—diluted $ (0.70)

SFAS 142 also requires the company to evaluate its other intangible assets to determine whether any have “indefinite
useful lives.” Under this new accounting standard, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, if any, are no longer
subject to amortization. The company did not classify any of its other intangible assets as having indefinite useful lives
and, accordingly, continues to amortize them over their remaining useful lives. The company amortizes its other
intangible assets using the straight-line method over periods ranging from 8 to 17 years.

Other intangible assets are comprised of patents, trademarks, and intellectual property rights with a combined gross

carrying value and accumulated amortization of $11.0 million and $5.1 million, respectively, as of May 29, 2004.
As of May 31, 2003, these amounts totaled $10.6 million and $4.3 million, respectively.
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Estimated amortization expense for intangible assets as of May 29, 2004, for each of the succeeding five fiscal years
is as follows.

(In Millions)

2005 $ 09
2006 0.9
2007 0.9
2008 0.9
2009 0.9

Notes Receivable

The notes receivable are primarily from certain independent contract office furniture dealers. These notes are the result
of dealers in transition either through a change in ownership or general financial difficulty. The notes are collateralized
by the assets of the dealers and bear interest based on the prevailing prime rate. Recorded reserves are based

on historical credit experience, collateralization levels, and the specific identification of other potential collection
problems. Interest income relating to these notes was $0.5 million, $0.7 million, and $0.8 million in 2004, 2003,

and 2002, respectively.

Unfunded Checks

As a result of maintaining a consolidated cash management system, the company utilizes controlled disbursement
bank accounts. These accounts are funded as checks are presented for payment, not when checks are issued.

Any resulting book overdraft position is included in current liabilities as unfunded checks.

Self-Insurance

The company is partially self-insured for general liability, workers’ compensation, and certain employee health benefits
under insurance arrangements that provide for third-party coverage of claims exceeding the company’s loss retention
levels. The company’s retention levels designated within significant insurance arrangements as of May 29, 2004,

are as follows:

Retention Levels

General Liability and Auto Liability/Physical Damage $1.00 million per occurrence
Workers’ Compensation and Property $0.75 million per occurrence
Health Benefits Varies by plan®

(1) The majority of health benefits are provided under plans with retention levels ranging between $0.15 million per person to $0.20 million per employee.

The general and workers’ compensation liabilities are managed through a wholly owned insurance captive; the related
liabilities are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The company’s policy is to accrue
amounts equal to the actuarially determined liabilities. The actuarial valuations are based on historical information
along with certain assumptions about future events. The company also accrues an estimated liability for health
benefits in the accompanying consolidated financial statements based on historical claims information along with
certain assumptions about future trends. Changes in assumptions for such matters as legal actions, medical costs,
and changes in actual experience could cause these estimates to change in the near term.

Research, Development, Advertising, and Other Related Costs

Research, development, advertising materials, pre-production and start-up costs are expensed as incurred.
Research and development (R&D) costs consist of expenditures incurred during the course of planned search and
investigation aimed at discovery of new knowledge useful in developing new products or processes. R&D costs
also include the significant enhancement of existing products or production processes, and the implementation
of such through design, testing of product alternatives, or construction of prototypes. Royalty payments made to
designers of the company’s products as the products are sold are not included in research and development costs,
as they are a variable cost based on product sales. Research and development costs, included in design and
research expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations, were $34.6 million, $33.3 million,
and $33.9 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Advertising costs, included in selling, general, and
administrative expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations, were $1.9 million, $0.8
million, and $2.1 million in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities, and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Stock-Based Compensation

At May 29, 2004, the company had several stock-based compensation plans, which are described fully in Notes 14
and 15, Stock Plans and Key Executive and Director Stock Programs. The company accounts for its stock-based
compensation plans under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion

No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations. Under this method, which continues
to be acceptable under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” (SFAS 148), no compensation
expense is recognized when stock options are granted to employees and directors at fair market value as of the

grant date.

The following table illustrates the effect on fiscal year net earnings and earnings per share if the company had applied
the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (SFAS 123) to stock-
based employee compensation during the periods indicated with the Black-Scholes pricing model used for valuation

of stock options.

(In Millions, Except Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002
Net earnings, as reported $ 423 $ 233 $ (56.0)
Less: Incremental stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (11.4) (11.1) (7.2
Pro forma net earnings $ 309 $ 122 $ (63.2)
Total stock-based employee compensation expense included in net earnings,
as reported, net of related tax effects $ 09 $ 1.0 $ 09
Earnings per share:
Basic, as reported $ 0.58 $ 031 $ (0.74)
Basic, pro forma $ 0.43 $ 0.16 $ (0.83)
Diluted, as reported $ 0.58 $ 031 $ (0.74)
Diluted, pro forma $ 0.42 $ 0.16 $ (0.83)
Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) excludes the dilutive effect of common shares that could potentially be issued,

due to the exercise of stock options or the vesting of restricted shares, and is computed by dividing net earnings by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS for fiscal years 2004 and
2003 was computed by dividing net earnings by the sum of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding, plus
all dilutive shares that could potentially be issued. As the company reported a net loss for the year ended June 1, 2002,
shares resulting from stock option plans would be anti-dilutive to EPS and, consequently, have not been included

in determining diluted EPS.

Revenue Recognition

The company recognizes revenue on sales through its network of independent contract furniture dealers and independent
retailers once the related product is shipped and title passes to the dealer. Sales made through its subsidiary dealerships
are recognized when delivery of the product and related services is made to the end customer. In situations where
products are sold directly to the end customer, outside of the company’s independent and owned dealer network, revenue
is recognized once the related product is shipped and installation is substantially complete. Offers such as rebates and
discounts are recorded as reductions to net sales. Unearned revenue arises as a normal part of business from advance
payments from customers for future delivery of product and service.

Shipping and Handling Expenses

The company records shipping and handling related expenses under the caption “Cost of Sales” in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
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Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

The company’s comprehensive income/(loss) consists of net earnings, foreign currency translation adjustments,
minimum pension liability, and unrealized holding gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments. The components
of “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss” in each of the last three fiscal years are as follows.

Total

Unrealized Accumulated

Foreign Currency Minimum Holding Other

Translation  Pension Liability Period  Comprehensive

(In Millions) Adjustments (Netoftax)  Gains/(Losses) Income/(Loss)
Balance, June 2, 2001 $ (74 $ - 0§ - §(174
Other comprehensive gain/(loss) in fiscal 2002 (1.6) (16.2) 0.9 (16.9)
Balance, June 1, 2002 (19.0) (16.2) 0.9 (34.3)
Other comprehensive gain/(loss) in fiscal 2003 7.7 (36.1) 0.1 (28.3)
Balance, May 31, 2003 (11.3) (52.3) 1.0 (62.6)
Other comprehensive gain/(loss) in fiscal 2004 3.4 2.2 (0.6) 5.0
Balance, May 29, 2004 $ 79 $G6G0) § 04 $ (57.6)

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Change in Accounting Estimate

Fiscal 2002 operating expenses included $15.6 million of accelerated depreciation related to certain sales technology
assets. This charge reduced earnings per share by $0.13 in 2002. At the time the company decided to replace these
assets, they had an estimated remaining useful life of approximately eighteen months. These assets were completely
depreciated by June 1, 2002, at which time the replacement assets were placed in service. This change in service life
constituted a change in accounting estimate under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes.”

Fiscal 2004 operating expenses included a $5.2 million pretax credit related to the reversal of an accrued legal
liability. Refer to Note 20, Guarantees, Indemnifications, and Contingencies, for further discussion regarding
this legal contingency.

Change in Accounting Principle

At the beginning of fiscal 2004, the company converted a portion of its remaining FIFO-based domestic inventories

to the LIFO method for inventory valuation purposes. Due to the facility rationalization and consolidation resulting
from the company’s restructuring activities in recent years, the company determined it was more appropriate

to account for this inventory using the LIFO method. There was no cumulative effect of this change in accounting
principle and the impact on the company’s fiscal 2004 consolidated financial statements was not material.

In addition, as noted below under New Accounting Standards, the company adopted FIN 46(R), which was
recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle as of May 29, 2004. Refer to Note 4,
Variable Interest Entities, for further discussion.

New Accounting Standards

In May 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued its consensus on Issue No. 03-04, “Determining the Classification
and Benefit Attribution Method for a ‘Cash Balance’ Pension Plan” (EITF 03-04). In this consensus, the Task Force
concluded that the actuarially determined pension expense for cash balance plans be determined using the traditional
unit credit method of accounting. The company adopted the provisions of EITF 03-04 effective at the beginning of the
first quarter of fiscal 2004. The adoption of EITF 03-04 did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics

of Both Liabilities and Equity” (SFAS 150). SFAS 150 modified the traditional definition of “liabilities” to encompass
certain obligations that must be settled through the issuance of equity shares. These obligations are considered
liabilities as opposed to equity or mezzanine financing under the provisions of SFAS 150. In addition, SFAS 150
increased the required disclosures of alternate settlement methods related to these obligations. This new standard
was effective immediately for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and for all other
financial instruments beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The adoption of SFAS 150 did not have an impact
on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued its consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables” (EITF 00-21). In this consensus, the Task Force addressed certain aspects of the accounting

by a vendor for arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating activities. The company adopted
the provisions of EITF 00-21 effective at the beginning of the second quarter of fiscal 2004. The adoption of EITF 00-21
did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(FIN 46(R)). This rule requires that companies consolidate a variable interest entity if the company is deemed the
primary beneficiary subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s activities, or is entitled

to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns, or both. The company has no special purpose entities, as defined,
nor has it acquired a variable interest in an entity where the company is the primary beneficiary since January 31,
2003. The provisions of FIN 46(R) are required to be applied as of the end of the first reporting period that ends after
March 15, 2004, for the variable interest entities in which the company holds a variable interest that it acquired on or
before January 31, 2003. The company adopted FIN 46(R) at end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Refer to Note 4,
Variable Interest Entities, for further discussion.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 revised 2003, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits” (SFAS 132(R)). This standard increases the existing disclosure requirements by requiring more
details about pension plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs and related information. Companies
will be required to segregate plan assets by category, such as debt, equity and real estate, and to provide certain
expected rates of return and other informational disclosures. SFAS 132(R) also requires companies to disclose
various elements of pension and post-retirement benefit costs in interim-period financial statements for quarters
beginning after December 15, 2003. The company adopted the additional annual disclosure provisions of SFAS

132(R) in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Refer to Note 12, Employee Benefit Plans, for further disclosures regarding
pension and other post-retirement benefits.

In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued a consensus on Issue No. 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments” (EITF 03-01). In this consensus, the Task Force
required certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures related to debt and marketable equity securities classified

as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity under SFAS 115 that are in an unrealized loss position at the balance sheet date
but for which an other-than-temporary impairment has not been recognized. In addition, the Task Force developed a
basic model in evaluating whether investments within the scope of EITF 03-01 have other-than-temporary impairment.
The company adopted provisions of EITF 03-01 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Adoption of EITF 03-01 did not

have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 1, Significant Accounting
and Reporting Policies, for further disclosures regarding short-term investments.

In May 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003” (FSP 106-2), in response to the Act signed
into law on December 8, 2003. The Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D)

as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D. The provisions of FSP 106-2 provide guidance on the accounting treatment and required
disclosures relating to the effects of the Act. This guidance supersedes FASB Staff Position No. 106-1, “Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003”
(FSP 106-1). Currently, specific regulatory guidance does not exist regarding how to determine whether a plan is
considered actuarially equivalent, a key criterion under FSP 106-2. Accordingly, the company is currently in the process
of evaluating existing plan benefits to determine actuarial equivalency and the corresponding impact of the FSP on the
financial statements. The company expects to adopt the provisions of FSP 106-2 in the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year information has been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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2 Acquisitions and Divestitures

During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, the company acquired for $0.2 million an additional ownership interest in

OP Spectrum LLP, a contract furniture dealership based in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. As a result of this transaction,
which increased the company’s ownership interest from 50 percent to 90 percent, the dealership’s balance sheet
and results of operations were consolidated in the company’s fiscal 2004 financial statements since the date of
acquisition. Prior to the transaction, the company’s investment in this dealership was accounted for under the equity
method, with the company’s proportionate share of resulting earnings reported as a component of other income/
expense. Consolidation of this dealership increased net sales and net earnings for the year ended May 29, 2004,
by approximately $12.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

During the past three years, the company purchased and/or divested other various privately owned domestic
and international dealers. The results of these transactions were not material, either individually or in the aggregate,
to the company’s consolidated financial statements.

3 Restructuring Charges

The following discussion provides a summary of the restructuring actions taken by the company during fiscal years
2002, 2003, and 2004. These actions are referred to collectively as the “Plan.”

Fiscal 2002

During the first quarter of fiscal 2002, the company recorded a $9.6 million pretax charge to operations, primarily
related to work force reductions. This charge represented costs associated with an early-retirement offer and non-
voluntary termination benefits for targeted workforce reductions in West Michigan, Europe, Mexico, and South
America. Approximately 274 positions were eliminated as a result of these combined actions, which affected a wide
range of job classifications across the company.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2002, the company’s Board of Directors approved a comprehensive operational and cost
structure realignment and restructuring plan intended to improve operating performance, ensure financial strength,
and position the company as a more focused competitor. This plan involved the key action items described below.

* Additional non-voluntary termination benefits for targeted workforce reductions in both the U.S.
and international operations.
* (Consolidation of the Rocklin, California, SCR operation into the West Michigan GreenHouse facility and sale
of the Rocklin facility.
« Consolidation of three leased facilities in West Michigan into other existing West Michigan facilities.
* Qutsourcing of certain dedicated production processes in connection with the company’s paint operations.
* Qutsourcing of the over-the-road transportation fleet.

In connection with the Plan, the company recorded additional pretax restructuring charges of $38.8 million and $9.8
million for the quarters ended December 1, 2001, and March 2, 2002, respectively.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, the company’s Board of Directors amended the Plan by approving the following
additional restructuring actions.

* Consolidation of the Holland, Michigan, Chair Plant into the West Michigan GreenHouse facility. This action included
preparing the Chair Plant for sale.

* (Closure and elimination of the Herman Miller RED initiative.

* Phase-out of the SQA brand and separate distribution channel.

* (Consolidation of two manufacturing facilities into one within the Geiger operation in Georgia.

In connection with these actions, the company recorded pretax restructuring charges of $23.4 million during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2002.
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Fiscal 2003

During the fourth quarter, the company amended the Plan to include additional workforce reductions of approximately
150 employees as well as the consolidation of the Holland, Michigan, Formcoat operation into existing space located
in Zeeland, Michigan.

The Plan was further amended subsequent to the end of fiscal 2003 with the company’s announcement of a planned
facility consolidation involving its Canton, Georgia, operation. This action includes the relocation of the Canton
operation to the company’s existing Spring Lake, Michigan, campus.

Of the $16.4 million total fiscal 2003 pretax restructuring charges, $15.9 million was recognized in the fourth quarter.
Fixed asset impairments related to the Canton, Georgia, and Formcoat consolidation projects totaled $13.5 million.
The company recorded charges totaling $3.6 million related to the workforce reduction announced in the fourth
quarter. Accrual adjustments totaling $1.2 million reduced fourth quarter restructuring expenses and were primarily
related to the final sale of the Rocklin, California, facility.

The remaining fiscal 2003 charges totaled approximately $0.5 million and related principally to changes in assumptions
around carrying costs and sub-lease timing for previously exited facilities. Also included in this remaining charge were
credits recognized in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 related to the re-deployment of certain fixed assets in the company’s
ongoing manufacturing operation. These assets were previously impaired in fiscal 2002 in connection with the Plan.

Fiscal 2004

The company completed substantially all of its remaining restructuring initiatives during fiscal year 2004. The sale

of the Chair Plant was completed in the second quarter and the Canton consolidation was completed by the end

of the third quarter. Finally, the consolidation of the Formcoat operation was completed and the related facility lease
was terminated in the second quarter of fiscal 2004.

Restructuring expenses in fiscal 2004 relating to the Canton and Formcoat moves totaled approximately $10.6 million.
Pension-related expenses of approximately $0.7 million were recognized associated with the workforce reduction
announced late in fiscal 2003. The Chair Plant sale resulted in the recognition of a $0.8 million gain, which was treated
as a reduction of restructuring expenses. The remaining net credit for the year related to adjustments of the expected
sub-lease timing for facilities previously exited as part of the Plan.

The following table presents the pretax restructuring charges, by category, recorded pursuant to the Plan.

(In Miliions) 2004 2003 2002
Severance and Outplacement $ 6.1 $ 4.0 $ 305
Asset Impairments (0.8) 11.4 28.0
Pension Related 0.2 (0.4) 8.1
Lease and Supplier Contract Terminations 1.1 0.3 6.1
Facility Exit Costs and Other 3.7 1.1 8.9
Total $ 103 $ 16.4 $ 816

Including actions taken since the beginning of fiscal 2002, approximately 2,100 employees, across a wide range
of job classifications, have been terminated as a result of the Plan. This includes approximately 300 employees from
the company’s international operations.

Asset impairment charges recorded in connection with the Plan during fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002 were
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 144 and SFAS No. 121, as appropriate. These impairments consisted

of long-lived assets, including real estate, fixed assets and manufacturing equipment from the facilities the
company intends to dispose of or discontinue. The assets were written-down to the lower of their carrying amounts
or estimated fair values, less the cost to dispose. Fair value estimates were determined by the company’s
management, with the assistance of independent appraisers, and were based on estimated proceeds from sale

and other relevant factors. These asset impairments resulted as a consequence of the Plan.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2004, the company successfully completed the sale of its Chair Plant which resulted

in net sale proceeds of approximately $6.0 million. The carrying value of this facility had been previously written down
to its estimated fair value of $5.2 million.
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The company’s Canton, Georgia, facility remains listed for sale. As a consequence of the Plan, this facility
was previously written down to its expected fair value of $8.2 million. This carrying value remains classified under the
caption “Net property and equipment” on the company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet as of May 29, 2004.

During fiscal 2003, the company completed the sale of its Rocklin, California, and Spring Lake, Michigan, Powder Coat
Technology (PCT) facilities. These facilities, which were exited during fiscal 2002, generated total proceeds
0f $20.2 million.

Restructuring charges also include certain estimated qualifying exit costs. Those costs related to the restructuring
actions announced during fiscal years 2003 and 2004 were recorded in accordance with SFAS 146. Expenses
resulting from actions announced during fiscal year 2002 were recorded in accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” For all periods presented, these costs include lease
and supplier contract terminations and certain facility exit costs.

The following summarizes the restructuring accrual activity since the beginning of the Plan. This summary does not
include restructuring activity related to the impairment of fixed assets or the effect on the company’s employee
retirement plans since these items are not accounted for through the restructuring accrual on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet but are included as a component of “Restructuring Expenses” on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

In addition, facility costs associated with the movement of inventory and equipment, as well as employee relocation
and training related to the consolidation of production processes, are recognized as incurred and are not included

in the ending restructuring accrual balance.

Lease and

Severance and Supplier Facility

Outplacement Contract Exit Costs
(In Millions) Costs Terminations and Other Total
Accrual Balance, June 2, 2001 § - § - § - § -
Restructuring Charges 30.5 6.1 8.9 45.5
Cash Payments (24.5) (2.6) (4.2) (31.3)
Accrual Balance, June 1, 2002 $§ 6.0 § 3.5 § 47 $ 14.2
Restructuring Charges 4.0 0.3 1.1 5.4
Cash Payments 8.1) (2.5) (3.8) (14.4)
Accrual Balance, May 31, 2003 $ 1.9 $ 13 $ 2.0 § 5.2
Restructuring Charges 6.4 1.3 4.0 11.7
Adjustments 0.3) 0.2) 0.3) (0.8)
Cash Payments (7.0) (1.4) (4.4) (12.8)
Accrual Balance, May 29, 2004 $ 1.0 $ 1.0 $ 1.3 $ 33

4 Variable Interest Entities

Effective May 29, 2004, the company adopted FIN 46(R). This resulted in the consolidation of two variable interest
entities (VIEs) of which the company is considered the primary beneficiary. The company’s variable interests in these
VIEs are the result of providing subordinated debt to and/or guarantees on behalf of two independent dealerships
created prior to January 31, 2003. The consolidation of the VIEs resulted in loss of $0.5 million or $.01 per share,
net of $0.4 million tax expense, recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle as of

May 29, 2004. As permitted under FIN 46(R), prior periods were not restated.

Due to the company’s history of providing on-going subordinated financial support to these dealerships, through
consolidation the company absorbs all net losses of the variable interest entities in excess of the equity at the
dealerships. The company recognizes all net earnings of these variable interest entities to the extent of recouping
the company’s losses. Earnings in excess of the company’s losses are attributed to equity owners of the dealerships
and shown as minority interest on the company’s financial statements.
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The cumulative effect adjustment represents the difference between the fair value of the VIEs assets, liabilities,

and minority interests recorded upon consolidation (determined as if those entities were previously consolidated)
and the carrying value of the interests in the VIEs previously recorded by the company. Since the consolidation

of the VIEs was performed as of May 29, 2004, there was no other significant impact to the Consolidated Statements
of Operations and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows other than the cumulative effect adjustment. In the
future, the company will include the results of operations of the VIEs in its Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The impact of consolidating the VIEs on the company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at May 29, 2004, was an increase
in the company’s assets and liabilities of approximately $2.0 million and $2.6 million, respectively. The liabilities of
the VIEs consolidated by the company do not represent additional claims on the company’s general assets; rather
they represent claims against the specific assets of the VIEs. Likewise, the assets of the VIEs consolidated by the
company do not represent additional assets available to satisfy claims against the company’s general assets. To offset
the credit risk associated with the company’s variable interests in the VIEs, the company holds a security interest in
the assets of the VIEs subordinate only to third-party bank interests.

5 Inventories

(In Millions) May 29, 2004 May 31, 2003
Finished products $ 16.4 $ 135
Work in process 10.5 6.7
Raw materials 11.2 11.2
Total $ 381 $ 31.4

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market and include material, labor, and overhead. The inventories of the
majority of domestic manufacturing subsidiaries are valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. The inventories
of all other subsidiaries are valued using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories valued using the LIFO method
amounted to $15.4 million and $11.5 million as of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, respectively. At the beginning

of fiscal 2004, the company converted a portion of the remaining FIFO-based domestic inventories to the LIFO method
for inventory valuation purposes. Refer to Note 1, Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies, for further discussion
regarding the change in accounting principle.

If all inventories had been valued using the first-in, first-out method, inventories would have been $9.5 million
and $9.3 million higher than reported at May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, respectively.

6  Prepaid Expenses and Other

(In Millions) May 29, 2004 May 31, 2003
Current deferred income taxes $ 17.3 $ 273
Other 32.9 32.2
Total $ 50.2 $ 59.5

7  Accrued Liabilities

(In Millions) May 29, 2004 May 31, 2003
Compensation and employee benefits $ 53.3 $ 418
Restructuring 3.3 5.2
Income taxes (4.3) 17.7
Other taxes 14.7 12.2
Unearned revenue 16.6 13.2
Warranty reserves 14.6 17.8
Other 25.6 29.7
Total $123.8 $137.6
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8  Other Liabilities

(In Millions) May 29,2004  May 31, 2003
Pension benefits $ 43.2 $ 743
Post-retirement benefits 8.5 8.7
Other 38.4 36.7
Total $ 90.1 $ 119.7

9  Notes Payable
(In Millions) May 29, 2004 May 31, 2003

U.S. dollar currencies $ 1.5 $ -
Non-U.S. dollar currencies - -

Total $ 1.5 $ -

The company has available an unsecured revolving credit facility that provides for $200 million of borrowings

in multiple currencies and matures on April 16, 2005. Outstanding borrowings bear interest, at the option of the
company, at rates based on the prime rate, certificates of deposit, LIBOR, or negotiated rates. Interest is payable
periodically throughout the period a borrowing is outstanding. As of May 29, 2004, the only usage against this
facility related to outstanding standby letters of credit totaling approximately $13.8 million. At May 31, 2003,

the only usage against this facility related to outstanding standby letters of credit totaling approximately $11 million.

One of the variable interest entities consolidated by the company under FIN 46(R) had outstanding notes payable
of $1.5 million at May 29, 2004.

10 Long-Term Debt

(in Millions) May 29,2004  May 31, 2003
Series A senior notes, 6.37%, due March 5, 2006 $ 20.0 $ 30.0
Series C senior notes, 6.52%, due March 5, 2008 12.0 15.0
Debt securities, 7.125%, due March 15, 2011 175.0 175.0
Other, including fair value of interest rate swap arrangements (1.3) 3.0
Subtotal 205.7 223.0
Less current portion 13.0 13.6
Total $ 192.7 $209.4

The company previously issued $100.0 million of senior notes in a private placement to seven insurance companies,
of which $32.0 million was outstanding at May 29, 2004.

Provisions of the senior notes and the unsecured senior revolving credit loan restrict, without prior consent, the
company’s borrowings, long-term leases, and sale of certain assets. In addition, the company has agreed to maintain
certain financial performance ratios, which are based on earnings before taxes, interest expense, depreciation and
amortization. At May 29, 2004, the company was in compliance with all of these restrictions and performance ratios.

On March 6, 2001, debt securities totaling $175 million, of the $300 million registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC), were sold. These notes mature on March 15, 2011, and bear an annual interest rate of 7.125 percent,
with interest payments due semi-annually. The net proceeds from the sale of these securities were used for the
repayment of outstanding domestic borrowings under the company’s revolving credit facility and for general corporate
purposes. On September 13, 2002, the company cancelled the remaining $125 million associated

with the shelf registration.
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Annual maturities of long-term debt for the five years subsequent to May 29, 2004, are as follows (in millions): 2005-
$13.0; 2006-$13.0; 2007-$3.0; 2008-$3.0; 2009-$—; thereafter $175.0. These amounts exclude the recorded

fair value of the company’s interest rate swap arrangements, which had a negative combined fair value of $1.3 million
as of May 29, 2004. Additional information regarding interest rate swaps is provided in Note 18, Financial Instruments
with Off-Balance Sheet Risk.

11 Operating Leases

The company leases real property and equipment under agreements that expire on various dates. Certain leases
contain renewal provisions and generally require the company to pay utilities, insurance, taxes, and other
operating expenses.

Future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining noncancellable lease
terms in excess of one year as of May 29, 2004, are as follows (in millions): 2005-$21.0; 2006-$15.4; 2007-$9.9;
2008-$8.0; 2009-$5.0; thereafter-$6.4.

Total rental expense charged to operations was $25.6 million, $26.9 million, and $36.2 million in 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively. Substantially all such rental expense represented the minimum rental payments under
operating leases.

12 Employee Benefit Plans
The company maintains plans that provide retirement benefits for substantially all employees.

Pension Plans and Post-Retirement Medical and Life Insurance

The principal domestic plan is a defined-benefit plan with benefits determined by a cash balance calculation. Benefits
under this plan are based upon an employee’s years of service and earnings. The company provides healthcare and
life insurance benefits for employees who retired from service on or before a qualifying date in 1998. Benefits under
this plan are based on the employee’s years of service and age at the date of retirement.

In addition to the domestic cash balance and the retiree healthcare and life insurance plans, one of the company’s
wholly owned foreign subsidiaries has a defined-benefit pension plan based upon an average final pay benefit
calculation. The plan has not been amended and is included in the following information.

The measurement date for the company’s principal domestic and international pension plans, as well as its post-
retirement medical and life insurance plan, is the last day of the fiscal year.

In fiscal 2002, the company recognized an additional pretax minimum pension liability of $25.0 million primarily
as a result of unfavorable plan asset performance and the effects of an early retirement offer and other workforce
reductions. During fiscal 2003, again primarily due to unfavorable plan asset performance, the pretax minimum
pension liability was increased by $58.2 million. In fiscal 2004, the increase in the market value of the company’s
pension plan assets resulted in a reduction to this pretax minimum pension liability of $3.4 million. In each of
these years, the company recorded the adjustment to its minimum pension liability, net of taxes, as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.

2004 Report to Shareholders  Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries



Benefit Obligations and Funded Status
The following table presents, for the fiscal years noted, a summary of the changes in the projected benefit obligation,
plan assets, and funded status of the company’s domestic and international pension and post-retirement plans.

Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits
2004 2003 2004 2003

(In Millions) Domestic International Domestic International

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $233.9 $ 408 $212.9 $ 289 $ 156 $ 12.8
Service cost 8.2 1.8 9.2 1.9 - -
Interest cost 13.2 2.2 14.4 1.8 0.9 1.0
Foreign exchange impact - 4.4 - 3.9 - -
Curtailments 0.2) - - - - -
Actuarial (gain)/loss (3.0) (1.5) 11.6 4.8 0.5 3.3
Employee contributions - 0.1 - - - -
Benefits paid (17.2) (0.5) (14.2) (0.5) (1.6) (1.5)
Benefit obligation at end of year $234.9 $ 473 $233.9 $ 40.8 $ 15.4 $ 15.6

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 169.9 $ 25.9 $ 163.4 § 248 § - § -
Actual return on plan assets 211 3.2 (9.4) (3.4) - -
Foreign exchange impact — 3.0 - 3.0 - -
Employer contributions 26.1 2.2 30.1 2.0 1.6 1.5
Employee contributions - 0.1 - - - -
Benefits paid (17.2) (0.5) (14.2) (0.5) (1.6) (1.5)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $199.9 $ 339 $169.9 $ 259 $ - $ -

Funded status $ (3500  $(13.4) $ (640 S (149 $ (154) $ (15.6)

Unrecognized transition amount - 0.2 - 0.1 - -

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 89.0 15.7 95.5 16.5 6.4 6.4

Unrecognized prior service cost (19.3) — (23.6) — 0.5 0.5

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ 347 $ 25 $ 79 $ 1.7 $ (8.5 $ 8.7)

The components of prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows:

Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits
2004 2003 2004 2003
(In Millions) Domestic International Domestic International

Prepaid benefit cost $ 355 $ 24 $ 86 $ 1.6 $ - $ -
Accrued benefit liability (70.5) (10.6) (72.6) (11.9) (8.5) 8.7)
Minimum pension liability 69.3 10.5 71.3 11.9 - -
Intangible asset 0.4 0.2 0.6 0.1 - -
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ 347 $ 25 $ 7.9 $ 17 $ 85 $ 687

The accumulated benefit obligation for the company’s domestic employee benefit plans totaled $234.9 million and
$233.9 million as of the end of fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively. For its international plans, these amounts
totaled $42.3 million and $36.1 million as of the same dates, respectively.
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs
The following table is a summary of the annual cost of the company’s pension and post-retirement plans.

Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits
(in Millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Domestic:
Service cost $ 8.2 $§ 9.2 $ 106 $ - $ - $ -
Interest cost 13.2 14.4 14.9 0.9 1.0 0.9
Expected return on plan assets (20.3) (19.3) (20.1) — — —
Net amortization (gain)/loss (2.1) (2.5) (3.6) 0.5 0.3 0.2
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) $ (1.0 $ 1.8 $ 1.8 $ 1.4 $ 1.3 $ 11
International:
Service cost $ 1.8 $ 1.9 $ 1.9
Interest cost 2.2 1.8 2.1
Expected return on plan assets (2.6) (2.3) (2.4)
Net amortization 0.3 - -
Net periodic benefit cost $ 17 $ 1.4 $ 1.6
Actuarial Assumptions

The following table presents the weighted average actuarial assumptions used to develop the projected benefit
obligations at fiscal year end and to develop net periodic benefit cost for the subsequent fiscal year. Actuarial
assumptions used in calculating benefit obligations at the end of a given fiscal year are determined at that time.
The assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost in a given fiscal year, however, are established

at the end of the previous fiscal year.

(Percentages) 2004 2003 2002

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations:
Discount rate:

U.S. pension plans 6.50 6.00 7.25

International pension plan 5.75 5.25 6.00

Post-retirement plan 6.50 6.00 7.25
Rate of compensation increase:

U.S. pension plans 4.50 4.50 4.50

International pension plan 4.25 4.00 4.00

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net benefit cost:
Discount rate:

U.S. pension plans 6.00 7.25 7.25

International pension plan 5.25 6.00 8.00

Post-retirement plan 6.00 7.25 7.25
Expected return on plan assets:

U.S. pension plans 8.50 8.50 9.50

International pension plan 7.00 7.00 8.50
Rate of compensation increase:

U.S. pension plans 4.50 4.50 4.50

International pension plan 4.00 4.00 5.50

The company evaluates the reasonableness of these assumptions on an annual basis, taking into consideration long-
term trends and overall market conditions that may affect the cost of providing the benefits under its pension and
post-retirement plans.
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The expected rate of return assumption represents the company’s long-term expectation of market returns on invested
plan assets. Because this assumption is long-term in nature, it is only changed based on significant shifts in economic
and financial market conditions. In developing this rate, the company considers risk factors specific to the various
classes of investments as well as advice from independent actuaries. The overall expected long-term rate of return for
the company’s primary domestic and international pension plans is derived as the weighted average of the expected
returns on the different asset classes, weighted by holdings. Asset allocations for the company’s primary domestic
pension plan are periodically updated using asset/liability studies, and the determination of the company’s estimates
of long-term rates of return is consistent with these studies. Peer data and historical market returns are also reviewed

for reasonableness.

In calculating post-retirement benefit costs and obligations, an 8.65 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita
cost of covered healthcare benefits was assumed for 2004. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5 percent
by 2010 and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed healthcare cost-trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for retiree healthcare costs.
A one-percentage-point change in the assumed healthcare cost-trend rates would have the following effects:

1 Percent 1 Percent
(In Millions) Increase Decrease
Effect on total fiscal 2004 service and interest cost components $ 01 $
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation at May 29, 2004 $ 09 $

Plan Assets and Investment Strategies

The company’s primary domestic and international plan assets consist mainly of listed common stocks, mutual
funds, and fixed income obligations. Plan assets as of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, included 644,766

shares of Herman Miller, Inc., common stock. As of May 29, 2004, the market value of Herman Miller, Inc., shares
included in plan assets was approximately $15.5 million. Dividends paid during fiscal 2004 on these shares totaled
approximately $0.1 million.

The company’s primary objective for invested pension plan assets is to provide for sufficient long-term growth

and liquidity to satisfy all of its benefit obligations over time. Accordingly, the company has developed an investment
strategy that it believes maximizes the probability of meeting this overall objective. This strategy includes the
development of a target investment allocation by asset category in order to provide guidelines for making investment
decisions. This target allocation emphasizes the long-term characteristics of individual asset classes as well as the
diversification among multiple asset classes. In developing its strategy, the company considered the need to balance

the varying risks associated with each asset class with the long-term nature of its benefit obligations. The company’s
strategy places an emphasis on the philosophy that, over the long-term, equities will outperform fixed income
investments. Accordingly, the majority of plan assets are managed within various forms of equity investments.

The company utilizes independent investment managers to assist with investment decisions within the overall
guidelines of the strategy.
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The asset allocation for the company’s primary pension plans at the end of fiscal 2004 and 2003 and the target
allocation, by asset category, follows:

Primary Domestic Plan
Targeted Actual Percentage of Plan
Asset Assets at Year-End
Allocation 2004 2003
Asset Category
Equities 51-84 66.2 56.4
Fixed Income 20-35 331 32.0
Other(1,2) 0-3 0.7 11.6
Total N/A 100.0 100.0
Primary International Plan
Targeted Actual Percentage of Plan
Asset _ AssetsatYearEnd
Allocation 2004 2003
Asset Category
Equities 65-90 88.5 79.5
Fixed Income 5-30 8.8 13.8
Real Estate 0-10 2.3 2.6
Other®) 0-20 0.4 4.1
Total N/A 100.0 100.0

(1) Includes cash and money market

(3) Primarily includes cash.

2004 Report to Shareholders
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Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries



Cash Flows

In fiscal 2004, the company made cash contributions totaling $28.3 million to its employee pension plans. In 2003,
contributions totaled $32.1 million. In both years, the majority of the contributions related to the company’s
primary domestic plan. In fiscal year 2005, the company expects its pension plan contributions to approximate the
amount made in 2004, though actual contributions will be dependent upon investment returns, changes in pension
obligations, and other economic and regulatory factors.

The company contributed $1.6 million and $1.5 million to its post-retirement benefit plan in fiscal 2004
and 2003, respectively.

Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan

Domestically, Herman Miller, Inc., has a trusteed profit sharing plan that includes substantially all employees.

These employees are eligible to begin participating at the beginning of the quarter following their date of hire. The plan
provides for discretionary contributions (payable in the company’s common stock) of not more than 6.0 percent

of employees’ wages based on the company’s financial performance. The cost of the plan charged against operations
infiscal 2004 and 2003 was $3.8 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The company did not recognize any expense
in 2002 related to the profit sharing plan.

The company matches 50 percent of employee contributions to their 401(k) accounts up to 6.0 percent of their pay.
The company’s contributions were approximately $5.6 million, $5.8 million, and $6.6 million in fiscal 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively.

13 Common Stock and Per Share Information

The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the calculations of basic and diluted EPS
for each of the last three fiscal years.

(In Millions, Except Shares) 2004 2003 2002
Numerators:

Numerators for both basic and diluted EPS, net earnings $ 423 $ 233 $ (56.0)
(In Millions, Except Shares) 2004 2003 2002

Denominators:
Denominators for basic EPS, weighted-average

common shares outstanding 72,567,476 74,155,582 75,873,160
Potentially dilutive shares resulting from stock plans(l) 505,431 323,481 -
Denominator for diluted EPS 73,072,907 74,479,063 75,873,160

(1) As the company reported a net loss for the year ended June 1, 2002, shares resulting from stock option plans would be anti-dilutive to EPS and, consequently,
have not been included in determining diluted EPS. The number of shares excluded totaled 567,234.

Certain exercisable stock options were not included in the computations of diluted EPS in fiscal years 2004 and 2003
because the option prices were greater than average market prices for the periods. The number of stock options
outstanding, which met this criterion and thus were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS, and the ranges of
exercise prices were: 3,776,172 shares at $24.20-$32.50 for fiscal year 2004 and 6,986,483 shares at $17.86-$32.50
for fiscal year 2003.

Common stock activity during fiscal years 2004, 2003, and 2002, included the repurchase of approximately 2,462,996
shares for $62.0 million, 3,642,013 shares for $61.9 million, and 800,721 shares for $19.3 million in the respective
periods. In addition, the issuance of 1,384,094 shares for $27.4 million (net of $2.5 million tax effect), 313,155
shares for $3.9 million (net of $0.2 million tax effect), and 939,628 shares for $11.9 million (net of $1.3 million tax
effect) occurred as the result of stock-based benefit program activity during the respective fiscal years

2004, 2003, and 2002.
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14 Stock Plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the terms of the company’s 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 4 million shares of authorized common stock
were reserved for purchase by plan participants at 85.0 percent of the market price. At May 29, 2004, 2,399,910
shares remained available for purchase through the plan, and there were approximately 5,693 employees eligible to
participate in the plan, of which 1,693, or approximately 29.7 percent, were participants. During 2004, 2003, and
2002, employees purchased 130,857 shares for the weighted-average fair value of $21.48; 206,205 shares for the
weighted-average fair value of $14.83; and 201,478 shares for the weighted-average fair value of $19.39, respectively.

Stock Option Plans

The company has stock option plans under which options to purchase the company’s stock are granted to employees
and non-employee directors at a price not less than the market price of the company’s common stock on the date

of grant. All options become exercisable between one year and four years from date of grant and expire five to ten years
from date of grant. At May 29, 2004, there were 3,008,358 shares available for future options.

The company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan, along with the Nonemployee Officer and Director Stock Option Plan,
authorizes reload options. Reload options provide for the purchase of shares equal to the number of shares
delivered upon exercise of the original options plus the number of shares delivered to satisfy the minimum tax
liability incurred in the exercise. The reload options retain the expiration date of the original options; however,

the exercise price must equal the fair-market value on the date the reload options are granted. During fiscal years
2004 and 2002, 615,408 and 51,340 reload options, respectively, were automatically granted. There were no

reload options automatically granted during fiscal year 2003.

A summary of shares subject to options follows.

2004

2003

2002

Shares  Weighted- Shares  Weighted- Shares  Weighted-

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Prices Prices Prices

Outstanding at beginning of year 7,593,452  $23.59 8,019,537  $23.55 6,265,020 $22.78

Granted 1,745,928  $23.59 84,847  $19.20 2,964,416  $24.14

Exercised (1,246,009)  $19.61 (87,220) $8.56 (544,444)  $14.34

Terminated (235,533)  $26.38 (423,712)  $24.97 (665,455)  $26.06

Outstanding at end of year 7,857,838 $24.14 7,593,452 $23.59 8,019,537  $23.55

Exercisable at end of year 6,121,910  $24.29 6,033,014  $23.59 4,212,217 $23.07
Weighted-average fair-market

value of options granted $6.36 $6.73 $7.29

A summary of stock options outstanding at May 29, 2004, follows.

Outstanding Stock Options

Exercisable Stock Options

Shares Weighted- ~ Weighted- Shares  Weighted-
Average Average Average
Remaining Exercise Exercise
Contractual Prices Prices

Life
$5.25-$23.80 3,370,108  3.96years $21.24 2,829,434  $21.29
$23.87-$25.90 2,702,027  6.20years  $24.82 1,598,498  $24.98
$25.92-$32.50 1,785,703  4.56years  $28.57 1,693,978  $28.65
Total 7,857,838  4.86years  $24.14 6,121,910  $24.29
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For purposes of computing compensation costs of stock options granted, the fair value of each stock option grant
was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions.

2004 2003 2002
Risk-free interest rates 1.35%-3.65% 2.11%-3.40% 3.63%-4.84%
Expected term of options 1.4-4.0 years 4.0 years 3.0-4.0 years
Expected volatility 29%-36% 42% -44% 45%-46%
Dividend yield 1.0% 0.5% 0.5%

Black-Scholes is a widely accepted stock option pricing model; however, the ultimate value of stock options granted
will be determined by the actual lives of options granted and future price levels of the company’s common stock.

15 Key Executive and Director Stock Programs

Restricted Stock Grants
The company grants restricted common stock to certain key employees. Shares are granted in the name of the employee,
who has all rights of a shareholder, subject to certain restrictions on transferability and a risk of forfeiture. The grants
generally vest over a period not to exceed five years, subject to forfeiture if the employee terminates. After the vesting
period, the employee is awarded the equivalent common shares without restriction. A roll forward of shares subject
to restrictions follows.

2004 Shares 2003 Shares 2002 Shares

Outstanding, at beginning of year 196,368 208,680 71,179
Granted 1,665 8,451 195,898
Forfeited (1,500) - (1,935)
Awarded (47,753) (20,763) (56,462)

Outstanding, at end of year 148,780 196,368 208,680

The weighted-average per share fair value of the restricted common stock granted during fiscal years 2004, 2003,
and 2002 was $20.06, $17.30, and $23.80, respectively. The outstanding restricted stock has been recorded as
unearned stock grant compensation and is included as a separate component of shareholders’ equity under the
caption Key Executive Stock Programs. The unearned compensation is being charged to selling, general, and
administrative expense over the five-year vesting period and was $1.5 million, $1.5 million, and $1.4 million

in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The weighted-average remaining life of the outstanding restricted shares
at May 29, 2004 is 2.01 years.

Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan

The company established the Herman Miller, Inc., Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, which allows certain
executives to defer receipt of all or a portion of their cash incentive bonus. The company may make a matching
contribution of 30 percent of the executive’s contribution up to 50 percent of the deferred cash incentive bonus.

The company’s matching contribution vests at the rate of 33% percent annually. In accordance with the terms of the
plan, the executive deferral and company matching contribution have been placed in a “Rabbi” trust, which invests
solely in the company’s common stock. These Rabbi trust arrangements offer the executive a degree of assurance

for ultimate payment of benefits without causing constructive receipt for income tax purposes. Distributions to the
executive from the Rabbi trust can only be made in the form of the company’s common stock. The assets in the Rabbi
trust remain subject to the claims of creditors of the company and are not the property of the executive and are,
therefore, included as a separate component of shareholders’ equity under the caption Key Executive Stock Programs.
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Key Executive Stock Purchase Assistance Plan

The company previously adopted a key executive stock purchase assistance plan that was used to assist them in
attaining their stock ownership requirements. Under the terms of this plan, loans were made to key executives for

the purpose of purchasing company stock. All loans are full recourse loans. Each loan is evidenced by a promissory note
from the participating executive and is secured by all or a portion of the shares purchased with the loan proceeds.

The sale or transfer of shares is restricted for five years after the loan is fully paid. The plan provides for the key executives
to earn repayment of a portion of the notes, including interest, based on meeting annual performance objectives as set
by the Executive Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. During the course of the loans, the plan prohibits
participants from earning repayment of more than eighty percent of the original principal amount, plus accrued interest,
prior to maturity of the loans.

No loans under this plan have been extended by the company during the past three fiscal years. Moreover, following
the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the company’s Executive Compensation Committee will not

permit any new loans to be granted under the plan. Existing loans may be paid in accordance with their prevailing
terms but may not be materially modified.

The notes bear interest at 7.0 percent per annum. Interest is payable annually, and principal is due on various dates
through September 1, 2008. As of May 29, 2004, the notes outstanding relating to the exercise of options were $0.02
million. Notes outstanding related to open-market purchases were $1.0 million and are recorded in other assets.
Compensation expense related to earned repayment was $0.2 million in 2004. There was no such expense in 2003
and it was not material in 2002.

In fiscal 2003 and 2002 the annual performance objectives related to the earned repayment provision of these
loans were not attained, resulting in payment obligations for current plan participants. In fiscal 2003, no deferrals

of these payment obligations were granted. Accordingly, principal payments of $0.25 million and interest payments
of $0.1 million were paid in fiscal 2004 by participants of the plan. In fiscal 2002, the Executive Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors agreed to allow the participants to defer the fiscal 2002 payments to a future
date without extending the maturities on the loans. In total, principal payments of $0.2 million and interest
payments of $0.1 million were deferred for four executives in fiscal 2002.

Director Fees

During fiscal 2000, the Board of Directors approved a plan that allows the Board members to elect to receive their
director fees in one or more of the following forms: cash, deferred compensation in the form of shares, unrestricted
company stock at the market value at the date of election, or stock options that vest in one year and expire in ten
years. The exercise price of the stock options granted may not be less than the market price of the company’s
common stock on the date of grant. Under the plan, the Board members received 45,907 options and 4,728 shares
of common stock during fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2003, Board members received 74,847 options, 5,230 shares of
common stock, and 5,346 shares through the deferred compensation program. In 2002, board members received
47,020 options and 11,266 shares through the deferred compensation program.
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16 Income Taxes

The components of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of change

in accounting are as follows.

(in Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Domestic $ 46.0 $ 31.0 $ (80.9)
Foreign 5.6 4.8 (10.1)
Total $ 51.6 $ 358 $ (91.0)
The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following.
(In Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Current: Domestic—Federal $ (19.5) $ (.2 $ (14.0)
Domestic—State (1.6) 7.2 8.1)
Foreign 2.4 3.3 (2.6)
Subtotal (18.7) 8.3 (24.7)
Deferred: Domestic—Federal 20.4 11.3 (10.8)
Domestic—State 7.1 (5.6) 0.7
Foreign — (1.5) 0.2)
Subtotal 27.5 4.2 (10.3)
Total income tax provision (benefit) $ 8.8 $ 12,5 $ (35.0)

The following table represents a reconciliation of income taxes at the United States statutory rate with the effective tax

rate as follows.

(In Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Income taxes computed at the United States statutory rate of 35% $ 18.1 $ 125 $ (31.9)
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
Corporate-owned life insurance - - 3.3
State taxes, net 0.3) 1.6 (4.8)
Tax reserve adjustments (6.9) (2.0) -
Other, net (2.1) 0.4 (1.6)
Total $ 8.8 $ 125 $ (35.0)

The company’s effective tax rate was 17.1 percent, 34.9 percent, and 38.5 percent in fiscal years 2004, 2003,

and 2002, respectively. In the fourth quarter of 2004, the company recorded a benefit from the release of tax reserves
totaling $6.9 million. This adjustment, which was recorded upon the closure of IRS audits for the years 1999, 2000,

and 2001, resulted in the significant decline in effective rate in fiscal 2004.
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The tax effects and types of temporary differences that give rise to significant components of the deferred tax assets

and liabilities at May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, are presented below.

(In Millions)

2004

2003

Deferred tax assets:

Book over tax loss on sale of fixed assets $ 09 $§ -
Compensation-related accruals 7.1 10.9
Accrued pension and post-retirement benefit obligations 10.2 33.9
Reserves for inventory 3.0 3.0
Reserves for uncollectible accounts and notes receivable 3.5 5.5
Restructuring 5.1 6.7
Accrued GSA 5.9 6.0
Warranty 4.9 5.9
State Tax NOL’s 7.0 7.0
State taxes 2.2 -
State credits 1.9 1.4
Foreign Tax NOL’s 4.3 4.0
Other 11.8 12.1
Valuation allowance (7.1) (5.0)
Total $ 60.7 $ 91.4
Deferred tax liabilities:
Book basis in property in excess of tax basis $ (6.7) $ (7.5
Tax over book loss on sale of fixed assets — (2.1)
Capitalized software costs (18.5) (19.2)
Prepaid employee benefits (5.4) (4.8)
Other (5.5) (4.6)
Total $ (36.1) $(38.2)

The future tax benefits of net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards are recognized to the extent that realization of these
benefits is considered more likely than not. The company bases this determination on the expectation that related
operations will be sufficiently profitable or various tax planning strategies will enable the company to utilize the NOL
carryforwards. To the extent that available evidence about the future raises doubt about the realization of these tax

benefits, a valuation allowance is established.

The company has state and local tax NOL carryforwards of $103 million, the tax benefit of which is $7.0 million,

that have various expiration periods from five to twenty years. For financial statement purposes, the net operating
loss carryforwards have been recognized as a deferred tax asset, subject to a valuation allowance of $2.8 million.
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The company has foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $12 million, the tax benefit of which is $4.3 million,
that have expiration periods which are unlimited in term. For financial statement purposes, the tax benefit of the
foreign net operating loss carryforwards has been recognized as a deferred tax asset, subject to a valuation allowance
of $4.3 million.

The company has not provided for United States income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries
totaling approximately $73 million. Recording of deferred income taxes on these undistributed earnings is not
required, because these earnings have been deemed to be permanently reinvested. These amounts would be subject
to possible U.S. taxation only if remitted as dividends. The determination of the hypothetical amount of unrecognized
deferred U.S. taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign entities is not practicable.

During fiscal 2002, the company entered into a settlement agreement with the Internal Revenue Service related
to the disallowance of deductions for its corporate owned life insurance (COLI) policy loan interest and administrative
fees. This settlement was for all years of the insurance programs since their inception in fiscal 1994.

The company’s settlement provided for the surrender of its COLI program policies. As a result, the company cancelled
the related life insurance policies resulting in a $1.8 million pretax charge to earnings in the quarter ended March 2, 2002.
The company also received cash in the third quarter of fiscal 2002 totaling $14.0 million for the net cash surrender
value of the related policies. Additionally, the settlement agreement required the company to pay taxes and interest
related to the disallowance of the deductions for the tax years between 1994 and 1999. Since the company had
previously reserved for the disallowance of these deductions, no further impact to net earnings was required.

Taxes and interest related to the settlement totaling $20.4 million were paid during fiscal 2003. Future remaining tax
and interest payments totaling $1.8 million are expected to be made in the first half of fiscal 2005.

17 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of the company’s financial instruments included in current assets and current liabilities
approximates fair value due to their short-term nature. The fair value of the notes receivable is estimated by
discounting expected future cash flows using current interest rates at which similar loans would be made to borrowers
with similar credit ratings and remaining maturities. As of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, the fair value of the notes
receivable approximated the carrying value. The company intends to hold these notes to maturity and has recorded
allowances to reflect the terms negotiated for carrying value purposes. As of May 29, 2004, the carrying value of

the company’s long-term debt including both current maturities and the fair value of the company’s interest rate swap
arrangements was $205.7 million with a corresponding fair market value of $226.2 million. At May 31, 2003,

the carrying value and fair market value were $223.0 million and $256.8 million, respectively.
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18 Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk

The company has periodically utilized financial instruments to manage its foreign currency volatility at the
transactional level as well as its exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Foreign Currency Contracts

The majority of the foreign currency contracts relate to major currencies such as the Japanese yen, the Australian
dollar, and the British pound. The exposure to credit risk from these currency contracts is minimal, because

the counterparties are major financial institutions. The market risk exposure is essentially limited to currency rate
movements. The gains or losses arising from these financial instruments are applied to offset exchange gains

or losses on the related hedged exposures. At May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, the company had no outstanding
derivative financial instruments resulting from foreign currency hedge contracts.

Interest Rate Swaps

In May 2002, the company entered into a fixed-to-floating interest rate swap agreement which expires March 6, 2006,
effectively converting $40 million of fixed-rate private placement debt to a floating-rate basis. The fair value of this
swap instrument was approximately $0.4 million and $1.2 million as of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003,
respectively. This fair value amount is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as an addition to long-term debt
and an offsetting addition to other noncurrent assets. The floating interest rate, which is based on the 90-day LIBOR,
set in advance of each quarterly period, was approximately 3.5 percent and 3.7 percent as of May 29, 2004,

and May 31, 2003, respectively.

In November 2003, the company entered into two additional fixed-to-floating interest rate swap agreements.

One agreement that expires March 15, 2011, effectively converts $50 million of fixed-rate debt securities to a floating-rate
basis. The fair value of this swap instrument was approximately $(1.5) million as of May 29, 2004. The second
agreement, which expires March 5, 2008, effectively converts $15 million of fixed-rate private placement debt to a
floating-rate basis. The fair value of this swap instrument was approximately $(0.2) million as of May 29, 2004. These
fair value amounts are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as a reduction to long-term debt and an offsetting
addition to other long-term liabilities. The floating interest rate for these two agreements is based on the six-month
LIBOR, set in-arrears at the end of each semi-annual period.

As of May 29, 2004, the company’s outstanding debt that was effectively converted to a variable-rate basis totaled $82
million as a result of these interest rate swap arrangements. These swaps are fair-value hedges and qualify for hedge-
accounting treatment using the “short-cut” method under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Under this accounting treatment, the change

in the fair value of the interest rate swap is equal to the change in value of the related hedged debt and, as a result,

there is no net effect on earnings. These agreements require the company to pay floating-rate interest payments in return
for receiving fixed-rate interest payments that coincide with the semi-annual payments to the debt holders at the same rate.
The counterparties to these swap instruments are large major financial institutions which the company believes are of
high-quality creditworthiness. While the company may be exposed to potential losses due to the credit risk of non-
performance by these counterparties, such losses are not anticipated. The swap arrangements resulted in the reduction
of net interest expense by approximately $1.6 million and $0.9 million in fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In fiscal 2002, the effect on net interest expense was not material.

2004 Report to Shareholders  Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries



19 Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

The following table presents the adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities.

(in Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Depreciation $ 58.0 $ 67.6 $105.7
Amortization 1.3 1.8 7.2
Provision for losses on accounts and notes receivable 0.3) 4.4 2.9
Restructuring (2.5) 2.0 49.9
Loss on sales of property and equipment 1.4 2.7 8.8
Deferred taxes 27.5 4.2 (10.3)
Other liabilities (27.6) (29.3) (26.1)
Impairment of equity investment - 2.2 -
Stock grants earned 1.5 1.5 1.4
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in assets:

Accounts receivable (11.7) 14.5 66.9

Inventories (4.5) 8.2 16.3

Prepaid expenses and other 0.1 0.9) (5.1)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Accounts payable 15.0 3.3 (25.0)

Accrued liabilities (18.3) 39.2 (82.0)
Total changes in current assets and liabilities (19.4) 64.3 (28.9)
Total adjustments $ 399 $121.4 $110.6
Cash payments for interest and income taxes were as follows.
(in Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Interest paid $ 173 $ 175 $ 211
Income taxes (refunded) paid, net $ .7 $ (20.2) $ 7.7
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20 Guarantees, Indemnifications, and Contingencies

Product Warranties

The company provides warranty coverage to the end-user for parts and labor on products sold. The standard length
of warranty is 12 years; however, this can vary depending on the product classification. The company does not sell

or otherwise issue warranties or warranty extensions as stand-alone products. Reserves have been established for
the various costs associated with the company’s warranty program. General warranty reserves are based on historical
claims experience and other currently available information and are periodically adjusted for business levels and

other factors. Specific reserves are established once an issue is identified with the amounts for such reserves based
on the estimated cost to correct the problem.

Aroll forward of the warranty reserve for fiscal years 2004 and 2003 is as follows.

(In Millions) 2004 2003
Accrual Balance, beginning $ 17.8 $ 225
Accrual for warranty matters 9.3 10.7
Settlements and adjustments (12.5) (15.4)
Accrual Balance, ending $ 14.6 $ 17.8
Other Guarantees

The company has entered into two separate agreements to guarantee the debt of two independent contract furniture
dealerships. In accordance with the provisions of FIN 45, the company initially recorded the estimated fair values

of these guarantees. The maximum financial exposure assumed by the company as a result of these arrangements
totaled $0.8 million as of May 29, 2004. The guarantees are reflected under the caption “Other Liabilities” in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003, at $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively,
which approximates the original estimated fair values.

The company has entered into three separate standby letter of credit arrangements for purposes of guaranteeing

the debt of three independent contract furniture dealerships. At the point the company entered into these
arrangements, the estimated fair value of the guarantees, which equaled the maximum financial exposure assumed

by the company, was recorded by the company in accordance with the provisions of FIN 45. The maximum financial
exposure assumed by the company as a result of these arrangements totaled $0.9 million. One of these arrangements,
with a maximum financial exposure of $0.4 million, is associated with a dealership deemed to be a VIE and
consolidated by the company under FIN 46(R) as of May 29, 2004, as described in further detail in Note 4, Variable
Interest Entities. Accordingly, the recorded liability associated with the financial guarantee of this dealership was
reversed upon adoption of FIN 46(R). The two remaining guarantees are reflected as a component of “Other Liabilities”
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 29, 2004, at $0.4 million, which approximates the original estimated
fairvalues. At May 31, 2003, these guarantees, which included the VIE-related guarantee, approximated $0.6 million.

The company has entered into agreements to guarantee contractual lease obligations of three independent
contract furniture dealerships. The lease terms associated with these arrangements expire at various dates
ranging between November 2004 and August 2012. As of May 29, 2004, the remaining unpaid lease payments
under these arrangements totaled approximately $2.1 million. In accordance with the provisions of FIN 45, no
liability has been recorded, since the company entered into these arrangements prior to December 31, 2002.

The company is periodically required to provide performance bonds in order to do business with certain customers.
These arrangements are common and generally have terms ranging between one and three years. The bonds are
required to provide assurances to customers that the products and services they have purchased will be installed
and/or provided properly and without damage to their facilities. The bonds are provided by various bonding agencies;
the company is ultimately liable for claims that may occur against them. As of May 29, 2004, the company had

a maximum financial exposure related to performance bonds totaling approximately $3.4 million. The company has
had no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require it to perform under any of these
arrangements and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future, either individually or in
the aggregate, would not materially affect the company’s financial statements. Accordingly, no liability has been
recorded as of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003.

The company has entered into an agreement with a customer in the normal course of business which includes
indemnification clauses regarding patent/trademark infringement and service losses. Service losses represent
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all direct or consequential loss, liability, damages, costs and expenses incurred by the customer or others resulting
from services rendered by the company, the dealer, or certain sub-contractors due to a proven negligent act.

The maximum financial exposure assumed by the company as a result of this arrangement is $10 million in any
qualifying instance. The company has had no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require
it to perform under this arrangement and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future,
either individually or in the aggregate, would not materially affect the company’s financial statements. Accordingly,

no liability has been recorded as of May 29, 2004.

The company has entered into standby letter of credit arrangements for the purpose of protecting various insurance
companies against default on the payment of certain premiums and claims. A majority of these arrangements are
related to the company’s wholly owned captive insurance company. As of May 29, 2004, the company had a maximum
financial exposure from these insurance-related standby letters of credit totaling approximately $12.9 million. The
company has had no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require it to perform under any of
these arrangements and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future, either individually
orin the aggregate, would not materially affect the company’s financial statements. Accordingly, no liability has been
recorded as of May 29, 2004, and May 31, 2003.

Contingencies

The company leases a facility in the UK under an agreement that expires in June 2005. Under the terms of the lease,
the company is required to perform the maintenance and repairs necessary to address the general dilapidation

of the facility over the lease term. The ultimate cost of this provision to the company is dependent on a number of
factors including, but not limited to, the future use of the facility by the lessor and whether the company chooses

and is permitted to renew the lease term. The company has estimated the cost of these maintenance and repairs
to be between $0 and $1 million, depending on the outcome of future plans and negotiations. Based on existing
circumstances, it is considered probable that these costs will approximate $0.5 million. As a result, this amount

has been recorded as a liability reflected under the caption “Other Liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
as of May 29, 2004.

The company, for a number of years, has sold various products to the United States Government under General
Services Administration (GSA) multiple award schedule contracts. Under the terms of these contracts, the GSA

is permitted to audit the company’s compliance with the GSA contracts. The company has occasionally noted errors
in complying with contract provisions. From time to time the company has notified the GSA of known instances

of non-compliance (whether favorable or unfavorable to the GSA) once such circumstances are identified and
investigated. The company does not believe that any of the errors brought to the GSA’s attention will adversely affect
its relationship with the GSA. Currently there are no GSA audits either scheduled or in process. Management does
not expect resolution of the completed audits or non-compliance notifications to have a material adverse effect

on the company’s consolidated financial statements.

On March 19, 2003, a settlement was reached in mediation concerning an audit of the company’s compliance with its
international GSA contract for the years 1991, 1992, and 1993. The terms of the settlement required the company

to pay $0.6 million to the United States Government. This payment was made during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003.
The financial impact of this settlement was previously reserved for, and consequently, it had no impact on fiscal
2003 net earnings.

In the fiscal 2003 “Subsequent Event” footnote disclosure, the company reported its plan to reverse an accrued legal
liability totaling approximately $5.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2004. The liability related to a lawsuit involving
one of the company’s wholly owned contract furniture dealerships. The company’s intention to reverse the accrual

was based on a favorable legal judgment issued in July 2003 by the Florida Court of Appeals. However, during the first
quarter ended August 30, 2003, the plaintiff in the lawsuit filed for an appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida.

As a result, the company did not reverse the accrual at that time as initially planned. During the second quarter of fiscal
2004, the Supreme Court of Florida denied the plaintiff’s appeal. Based on this, the company reversed the accrual

in the second quarter resulting in a $5.2 million pretax credit to “Operating Expenses” in the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

The company is also involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the

opinion of management, the outcome of such proceedings and litigation currently pending will not materially affect
the company’s consolidated financial statements.
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21 Operating Segments

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information,” management evaluates the company as one operating segment in the office furniture
industry. The company is engaged worldwide in the design, manufacture, and sale of office furniture systems, products,
and related services through its wholly owned subsidiaries. Throughout the world the product offerings, the production
processes, the methods of distribution, and the customers serviced are consistent. The company’s product offerings
consist primarily of office furniture systems, seating, storage solutions, freestanding furniture, and casegoods. These
product offerings are marketed, distributed, and managed primarily as a group of similar products on an overall portfolio
basis. The accounting policies of the operating segment are the same as those described in Note 1, Significant
Accounting and Reporting Policies.

Sales to customers are attributed to the geographic areas based on the location of the customer. Long-lived assets
consist of property and equipment. Geographic information is as follows.

(In Millions) 2004 2003 2002
Net sales:
United States $1,123.8 $1,134.0 $1,249.2
International 214.5 202.5 219.5
Total $1,338.3  $1,336.5 $1,468.7
Long-lived assets:
United States $ 1992 $ 2353 $ 3044
International 9.3 10.4 11.0
Total $ 2085 § 2457 $ 3154

No single dealer accounted for more than 4 percent of the company’s net sales in the fiscal year ended

May 29, 2004. For fiscal 2004, the United States Government, through its General Services Administration (GSA),
was the largest single end user customer accounting for 10.0 percent of the company’s net sales. By comparison,
GSA accounted for 9.6 percent and 8.1 percent of the company’s net sales for fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, respectively.
The 10 largest customers accounted for approximately 19.9 percent of net sales.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Herman Miller, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Herman Miller, Inc. and subsidiaries as of May 29,
2004 and May 31, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 29, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based

on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Herman Miller, Inc. and subsidiaries at May 29, 2004 and May 31, 2003, and the consolidated
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 29, 2004,

in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the company on May 29, 2004 adopted FASB

Interpretation No. 46(R), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” on June 1, 2003 changed its method
of accounting for certain domestic inventories, and in fiscal 2003 changed its method of accounting for goodwill.

é/wwzf ¥ LLP

Grand Rapids, Ml June 21, 2004
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Douglas D. French®
Former President and Chief Executive Officer, Ascension Health
Healthcare system

. Barry Griswell®

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Principal Financial Group

Financial services organization

James R. Kackley
Private Investor

C. William Pollard® 4

Co-Chairman, Unumprovident Corporation

Chairman Emeritus, The ServiceMaster Company

Management and consumer services for healthcare, industrial, and educational facilities

Thomas C. Pratt@ 3
President and Chief Executive Officer, International Cooperating Ministries
Religious organization

Dorothy A. Terrel|®)
Venture Partner, First Light Capital
Innovative technology venture-capital firm

David 0. Ulrich®- 3
Professor, University of Michigan Business School

Michael A. Volkema®
Chairman of the Board, Herman Miller, Inc.

Brian C. Walker
President and Chief Executive Officer, Herman Miller, Inc.

Daniel C. Molhoek
Secretary to the Board, Partner, Varnum, Riddering, Schmidt & Howlett LLP
Attorneys at law

(1) Executive Compensation Committee

(2)  Audit Committees

(3)  Executive Committee

(4)  Nominating and Governance Committee
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Leadership Team

Brian Walker
President and Chief Executive Officer

Ken Goodson
Senior Vice President, Operations

Dave Guy
President, Geiger

Dave Knibbe
Senior Vice President, Sales and Distribution

Andy Lock
Senior Vice President, People and Information Services

Kris Manos
Senior Vice President, Marketing and Market Development

Gary Miller
Chief Development Officer

Elizabeth Nickels
Chief Financial Officer

John Portlock
President, Herman Miller International

Charley Vranian

Senior Vice President, Design Development and Product Management

Board of Directors

Leadership Team
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Shareholder Reference Information
Line of Business

Herman Miller creates great places to work by researching, designing, manufacturing, and distributing innovative
interior furnishings that support companies all over the world. The company’s award-winning products are
complemented by primary furniture-management services, which are provided corporately and through a dealer
network of independent distribution. Herman Miller is widely recognized both for its products and business practices,
including the use of industry-leading, customer-focused technology.

Common Stock

Herman Miller, Inc., common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ-National Market System (NASDAQ-NMS Symbol: MLHR).
As of July 30, 2004, there were approximately 18,000 shareholders of the company’s common stock.

Affirmative Action

Herman Miller, Inc., is an equal opportunity employer and supports affirmative action programs for minorities and
women, including the recruitment, education and training, and economic development of businesses.

Investor Relations
Questions regarding earnings, releases, financial information, and other investor data should be addressed to:

Investor Relations, Herman Miller, Inc., 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Ml 49464-0302, USA
Or call: 616 654 3305
Or e-mail: investor@hermanmiller.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., PO Box 43010, Providence, RI 02940-3010, USA
Attention: Herman Miller, Inc., Shareholder Relations
800 446 2617

Independent Public Accountants

Ernst & Young LLP, Grand Rapids, Michigan

Contact Herman Miller

Herman Miller has a physical presence through showrooms, dealers, customer centers, retailers, and manufacturing
facilities around the world. No matter how you would like to do business with us, you can begin connecting with us at:

www.hermanmiller.com
Or call: 616 654 3000
Or write: Herman Miller, Inc., 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Ml 49464-0302, USA

2004 Herman Miller, Inc., Zeeland, Michigan ~ PMS2840

®HermanMiller, Action Office, Aeron, Ambi, Eames Lounge Chair Configuration, Equa, Ergon, Ethospace, Meridian, Passage, PosturefFit,
Reaction, Prospects, Resolve, and ServiceNet are among the registered trademarks of Herman Miller, Inc.

Geiger is a registered trademark of Geiger International, Inc.

Mirra and Q are among the trademarks of Herman Miller, Inc.
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